Proposed Rules

Federal Register

Vol. 78, No. 113

Wednesday, June 12, 2013

This section of the FEDERAL REGISTER contains notices to the public of the proposed issuance of rules and regulations. The purpose of these notices is to give interested persons an opportunity to participate in the rule making prior to the adoption of the final rules.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Food and Drug Administration

21 CFR Part 317

[Docket No. FDA-2012-N-1037] RIN 0910-AG92

Establishing a List of Qualifying Pathogens Under the Food and Drug Administration Safety and Innovation Act

AGENCY: Food and Drug Administration, HHS.

ACTION: Proposed rule.

SUMMARY: The Food and Drug Administration (FDA or Agency) is proposing a regulation to establish a list of ''qualifying pathogens'' that have the potential to pose a serious threat to public health. The proposed rule would implement a provision of the Generating Antibiotic Incentives Now (GAIN) title of the Food and Drug Administration Safety and Innovation Act (FDASIA). GAIN is intended to encourage development of new antibacterial and antifungal drugs for the treatment of serious or life-threatening infections, and provides incentives such as eligibility for designation as a fast-track product and an additional 5 years of exclusivity to be added to certain exclusivity periods. FDA is proposing that the following pathogens comprise the list of "qualifying pathogens:" Acinetobacter species, Aspergillus species, Burkholderia cepacia complex, Campylobacter species, Candida species, Clostridium difficile, Enterobacteriaceae (e.g., Klebsiella pneumoniae), Enterococcus species, *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex, Neisseria gonorrhoeae, N. meningitidis, Non-tuberculous mycobacteria species, Pseudomonas species, Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus agalactiae, S. pneumoniae, S. pyogenes, and Vibrio cholerae. The preamble to the proposed rule describes the factors we considered and the methodology we used to

develop this list of qualifying pathogens.

DATES: Submit comments by August 12, 2013.

ADDRESSES: You may submit comments, identified by Docket No. FDA-2012-N-1037 and/or Regulatory Information Number (RIN) 0910-AG92, by any of the following methods:

Electronic Submissions

Submit electronic comments in the following way:

• Federal eRulemaking Portal: http://www.regulations.gov. Follow the instructions for submitting comments.

Written Submissions

Submit written submissions in the following ways:

• Mail/Hand delivery/Courier (for paper or CD–ROM submissions): Division of Dockets Management (HFA– 305), Food and Drug Administration, 5630 Fishers Lane, Rm. 1061, Rockville, MD 20852.

Instructions: All submissions received must include the Agency name, Docket No. FDA–2012–N–1037 and RIN 0910–AG92 for this rulemaking. All comments received may be posted without change to http://www.regulations.gov, including any personal information provided. For additional information on submitting comments, see the "Comments" heading of the SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION section of this document.

Docket: For access to the docket to read background documents or comments received, go to http://www.regulations.gov and insert the docket number(s), found in brackets in the heading of this document, into the "Search" box and follow the prompts and/or go to the Division of Dockets Management, 5630 Fishers Lane, Rm. 1061, Rockville, MD 20852.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT:

Kristiana Brugger, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, Food and Drug Administration, 10903 New Hampshire Ave. Bldg. 51, Rm. 6262, Silver Spring, MD 20993–0002, 301– 796–3601.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

Table of Contents

- I. Executive Summary
- II. Background
- III. Consultation With Infectious Disease and Antibiotic Resistance Experts

- IV. Factors Considered and Methodology Used for Establishing a List of Qualifying Pathogens
 - A. The Impact on the Public Health Due to Drug-Resistant Organisms in Humans
 - B. The Rate of Growth of Drug-Resistant Organisms in Humans and the Increase in Resistance Rates in Humans
- C. The Morbidity and Mortality in Humans V. Proposed Pathogens for Inclusion in the List
 - A. Acinetobacter Species
 - B. Aspergillus Species
 - C. Burkholderia cepacia Complex
 - D. Campylobacter SpeciesE. Candida Species
 - F. Clostridium difficile
 - G. Enterobacteriaceae
 - H. Enterococcus Species
 - I. Mycobacterium tuberculosis Complex
 - J. Neisseria gonorrhoeae
 - K. Neisseria meningitidis
 - L. Non-tuberculous Mycobacteria Species
 - M. Pseudomonas Species
 - N. Staphylococcus aureus
 - O. Streptococcus agalactiae
 - P. Streptococcus pneumoniae
 - Q. Streptococcus pyogenes
- R. Vibrio cholerae
- VI. Environmental Impact
- VII. Analysis of Economic Impact
 - A. Preliminary Regulatory İmpact Analysis
 - B. Background
 - C. Need for and Potential Effect of the Regulation

VIII. Paperwork Reduction Act

- IX. Federalism
- X. Comments
- XI. References

I. Executive Summary

Purpose of the Regulatory Action

Title VIII of FDASIA (Pub. L. 112– 144), the GAIN title, is intended to encourage development of new antibacterial and antifungal drugs for the treatment of serious or lifethreatening infections. Among other things, it requires that the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services (and thus FDA, by delegation): (1) Establish and maintain a list of "qualifying pathogens" that have "the potential to pose a serious threat to public health" and (2) make public the methodology for developing the list (see section 505E(f) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the FD&C Act), as amended) (21 U.S.C. 355E(f)). In establishing and maintaining the list of "qualifying pathogens," FDA must consider: The impact on the public health due to drug-resistant organisms in humans; the rate of growth of drugresistant organisms in humans; the increase in resistance rates in humans;

and the morbidity and mortality in humans. FDA also is required to consult with infectious disease and antibiotic resistance experts, including those in the medical and clinical research communities, along with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). FDA is issuing this proposed rule to fulfill these requirements.

Summary of the Major Provisions of the Regulatory Action

After holding a public meeting and consulting with CDC and the National Institutes of Health (NIH), and considering the factors specified in section 505E(f)(2)(B)(i) of the FD&C Act, as amended, FDA is proposing that the following pathogens comprise the list of 'qualifying pathogens:" Acinetobacter species, Aspergillus species, Burkholderia cepacia complex, Campylobacter species, Candida species, Clostridium difficile, Enterobacteriaceae (e.g., Klebsiella pneumoniae), Enterococcus species, Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex, Neisseria gonorrhoeae, N. meningitidis, Non-tuberculous mycobacteria species, Pseudomonas species, Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus agalactiae, S. pneumoniae, S. pyogenes, and Vibrio cholerae. The preamble to the proposed rule describes the factors FDA considered and the methodology FDA used to develop this list of qualifying pathogens.

Costs and Benefits

The Agency has determined that this proposed rule is not a significant regulatory action as defined by Executive Order 12866.

II. Background

Title VIII of FDASIA (Pub. L. 112-144), entitled Generating Antibiotic Incentives Now, amended the FD&C Act to add section 505E (21 U.S.C. 355E), among other things. This new section of the FD&C Act is intended to encourage development of treatments for serious or life-threatening infections caused by bacteria or fungi. For certain drugs that are designated as "qualified infectious disease products" (QIDPs) under new section 505E(d) of the FD&C Act, new section 505E(a) provides an additional 5 years of exclusivity to be added to the exclusivity periods provided by sections 505(c)(3)(E)(ii) to (c)(3)(E)(iv) (21 U.S.C. 355(c)(3)(E)(ii) to (c)(3)(E)(iv), 505(j)(5)(F)(ii) to (j)(5)(F)(iv) (21 U.S.C. 355(j)(5)(F)(ii) to (j)(5)(F)(iv)), and 527 (21 Ú.S.C. 360cc) of the FD&C Act. In addition, an application for a drug designated as a QIDP is eligible for priority review and designation as a fast

track product (sections 524A and 506(a)(1) of the FD&C Act, respectively).

The term "qualified infectious disease product" or "QIDP" refers to an antibacterial or antifungal human drug that is intended to treat serious or lifethreatening infections (section 505E(g) of the FD&C Act). It includes treatments for diseases caused by antibacterial- or antifungal-resistant pathogens (including new or emerging pathogens), or diseases caused by "qualifying pathogens."

The GAIN title of FDASIA requires that the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services (and thus FDA, by designation) establish and maintain a list of such "qualifying pathogens," and make public the methodology for the developing the list. According to the statute, the term 'qualifying pathogen' means a pathogen identified and listed by the Secretary * * * that has the potential to pose a serious threat to public health, such as[:] (A) resistant gram positive pathogens, including methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus, vancomycinresistant Staphylococcus aureus, and vancomycin-resistant [E]nterococcus; (B) multi-drug resistant gram[-]negative bacteria, including Acinetobacter, Klebsiella, Pseudomonas, and E. coli species; (C) multi-drug resistant tuberculosis; and (D) Clostridium difficile (section 505E(f)(1) of the FD&C Act, as amended by FDASIA). FDA is required under the law to consider four factors in establishing and maintaining the list of qualifying pathogens:

- The impact on the public health due to drug-resistant organisms in humans;
- The rate of growth of drug-resistant organisms in humans;
- The increase in resistance rates in humans; and
- The morbidity and mortality in humans (section 505E(f)(2)(B)(i), as amended by FDASIA).

Furthermore, in determining which pathogens should be listed, FDA is required to consult with infectious disease and antibiotic resistance experts, including those in the medical and clinical research communities, along with CDC (section 505E(f)(2)(B)(ii) of the FD&C Act, as amended by FDASIA). As discussed in the paragraphs that follow, FDA has met this requirement by convening a public hearing, and opening an associated public docket, to solicit input regarding the list of qualifying pathogens, as well as by consulting with infectious disease and antibiotic resistance experts at CDC and NIH during the development of this proposed rule.

Significantly, the statutory standard for inclusion on FDA's list of qualifying pathogens is different from the statutory standard for QIDP designation. QIDP designation, by definition, requires that the drug in question be an "antibacterial or antifungal drug for human use intended to treat serious or lifethreatening infections" (section 505E(g) of the FD&C Act, as amended by FDASIA). "Qualifying pathogens" are defined according to a different statutory standard; the term "means a pathogen identified and listed by the Secretary . . . that has the *potential* to pose a serious threat to public health' (section 505E(f) of the FD&C Act, as amended by FDASIA) (emphasis added). That is, a drug intended to treat a serious or life-threatening bacterial or fungal infection caused by a pathogen that is not included on the list of "qualifying pathogens" may be eligible for designation as a QIDP, while a drug that is intended to treat an infection caused by a pathogen on the list may not always be eligible for QIDP designation.

FDA intends the list of qualifying pathogens to reflect the pathogens that, as determined by the Agency, after consulting with other experts and considering the factors set forth in FDASIA (see section 505E(f)(2)(B)(i) of the FD&C Act, as amended by FDASIA), have the "potential to pose a serious threat to public health" (section 505E(f)(1) of the FD&C Act, as amended by FDASIA). FDA does not intend for this list to be used for other purposes, such as the following: (1) Allocation of research funding for bacterial or fungal pathogens; (2) setting of priorities in research in a particular area pertaining to bacterial or fungal pathogens; or (3) direction of epidemiological resources to a particular area of research on bacterial or fungal pathogens. Furthermore, as section 505E of the FD&C Act makes clear, the list of qualifying pathogens includes only bacteria or fungi that have the potential to pose a serious threat to public health. Viral pathogens or parasites, therefore, were not considered for inclusion and are not included as part of this list.

III. Consultation With Infectious Disease and Antibiotic Resistance Experts

GAIN requires FDA to consult with infectious disease and antibiotic resistance experts, including those in the medical and clinical research communities, along with the CDC, in determining which pathogens should be included on the list of "qualifying pathogens" (section 505E(f)(2)(B)(ii) of the FD&C Act, as amended by FDASIA).

In order to fulfill this statutory obligation, on December 18, 2012, FDA convened a public hearing, at which the Agency solicited input regarding the following topics: (1) How FDA should interpret and apply the four factors FDASIA requires FDA to "consider" in establishing and maintaining the list of qualifying pathogens, (2) whether there are any other factors FDA should consider when establishing and maintaining the list of qualifying pathogens, and (3) which specific pathogens FDA should list as qualifying pathogens. The transcript of this hearing, as well as comments submitted to the hearing docket, are available at www.regulations.gov, docket number FDA-2012-N-1037. FDA has considered carefully the input presented at this hearing, as well as the comments submitted to the docket, in creating this proposed list of qualifying pathogens.1 In addition, FDA consulted with experts in infectious disease and antibiotic resistance at CDC and NIH during the development of this proposed rule.

IV. Factors Considered and Methodology Used for Establishing a List of Qualifying Pathogens

As stated previously, section 505E(f)(2)(B)(i) of the FD&C Act (as amended by FDASIA) requires FDA to consider the following factors in establishing and maintaining the list of qualifying pathogens:

- The impact on the public health due to drug-resistant organisms in humans;
- The rate of growth of drug-resistant organisms in humans;
- The increase in resistance rates in humans; and
- The morbidity and mortality in humans.

The Agency recognizes it is important to take a long-term view of the drug resistance problem. For some pathogens, particularly those for which increased resistance is newly emerging, FDA recognizes that there may be gaps in the available data or evidence pertaining to one or more of the four factors described in section 505E(f)(2)(B)(i) of the FD&C Act. Thus, consistent with GAIN's purpose of encouraging the development of treatments for serious or life-threatening infections caused by bacteria or fungi, the Agency intends to consider the totality of available evidence for a particular pathogen to determine whether that pathogen

should be included on the list of qualifying pathogens. Therefore, if, after considering the four factors identified in section 505E(f)(2)(B)(i) of the FD&C Act, FDA determines that the totality of available evidence demonstrates that a pathogen "has the potential to pose a serious threat to public health," the Agency may designate the pathogen in question as a "qualifying pathogen." More detailed explanations of each factor identified in section 505E(f)(2)(B)(i) are set forth in the paragraphs that follow.

A. The Impact on the Public Health Due to Drug-Resistant Organisms in Humans

This first factor that section 505E(f)(2)(B)(i) requires FDA to consider is also the broadest. Many factors associated with infectious diseases affect public health directly, such as a pathogen's ease of transmission, the length and severity of the illness it causes, the risk of mortality associated with its infection, and the number of approved products available to treat illnesses it causes. Additionally, although the Agency did not consider financial costs in its analyses for this proposed list of qualifying pathogens, we note that the published literature supports the conclusion that antimicrobial-resistant infections are associated with higher healthcare costs (see, e.g., Refs. 1 and 2; Ref. 3 at pp. 807,

In considering a proposed pathogen's impact on the public health due to drugresistant organisms in humans, FDA will assess such evidence as: (1) The transmissibility of the pathogen and (2) the availability of effective therapies for treatment of infections caused by the pathogen, including the feasibility of treatment administration and associated adverse effects. However, FDA may also assess other public health-related evidence, including evidence that may indicate a highly prevalent pathogen's 'potential to pose a serious threat to public health" due to the development of drug-resistance in that pathogen, even if most documented infections are currently drug-susceptible.

B. The Rate of Growth of Drug-Resistant Organisms in Humans and the Increase in Resistance Rates in Humans

The second and third factors that FDA must consider overlap substantially with one another, and for the most part are assessed using the same trends and information. Therefore, the Agency will analyze these factors together.

In considering these factors with respect to a proposed pathogen, FDA will assess such evidence as: (1) The proportion of patients whose illness is

caused by a drug-resistant isolate of a pathogen (compared with those whose illness is caused by more widely drugsusceptible pathogens); (2) number of resistant clinical isolates of a particular pathogen (e.g., the known incidence or prevalence of infection with a particular resistant pathogen); and (3) the ease and frequency with which a proposed pathogen can transfer and receive resistance-conferring elements (e.g., plasmids encoding relevant enzymes, etc.). Given the temporal limitations on infectious disease data, FDA also will consider evidence that a given pathogen currently has a strong potential for a meaningful increase in resistance rates. Evidence of the potential for increased resistance may include, for example, projected (rather than observed) rates of drug resistance for a given pathogen, and current and projected geographic distribution of a drug-resistant pathogen. Furthermore, in acknowledgement of the growing problem of drug resistance, FDA may also assess other available evidence demonstrating either existing or potential increases in drug resistance rates.

C. The Morbidity and Mortality in Humans

Patients infected with drug-resistant pathogens are inherently more challenging to treat than those infected with drug-susceptible pathogens. For example, in some cases, a patient infected with a drug-resistant pathogen may have a delay in the initiation of effective drug therapy that can result in poor outcomes for such patients. Consequently, in determining whether a pathogen should be included in the list, FDA will consider the rates of mortality and morbidity (the latter as measured by, e.g., duration of illness, severity of illness, and risk and extent of sequelae from infections caused by the pathogen, and risk associated with existing treatments for such infections) associated with infection by that pathogen generally—and particularly by drug-resistant strains of that pathogen.

Setting quantitative thresholds for inclusion on the list based on any prespecified endpoint would be inconsistent with FDA's approach of considering a totality of the evidence related to a given pathogen, as well as infeasible given the variety of pathogens under consideration. Instead, in considering whether this factor weighs in favor of including a given pathogen, the Agency will look for evidence of a meaningful increase in morbidity and mortality rates when infection with a drug-resistant strain of a pathogen is compared to infection with a more drug-

¹ The public hearing and this proposed rule share docket numbers because they are part of the same rulemaking process. Accordingly, the documents from the public hearing phase of Docket No. FDA–2012–N–1037 are included in the docket for this rulemaking.

susceptible strain of that pathogen. The Agency may also assess other evidence, such as overall morbidity and mortality rates for infection with either resistant or susceptible strains of a pathogen to determine whether that pathogen has the potential to pose a serious threat to public health, in particular if drugresistant isolates of the pathogen were to become more prevalent in the future.

V. Proposed Pathogens for Inclusion in the List

FDA is proposing to include the following pathogens in its list of qualifying pathogens based on the data described in the paragraphs that follow. FDA expects that the inclusion of any additional pathogens in the list would be supported by similar data.

A. Acinetobacter Species

Members of the genus Acinetobacter are gram-negative bacteria that can cause hospital-acquired infections such as pneumonia, bacteremia (i.e., bloodstream infections), meningitis, genitourinary infections, or soft tissue infections (e.g., cellulitis) (Ref. 4 at pp. 2881-2883 (internal citation omitted)). A total of 1,490 healthcare-associated infections with Acinetobacter species, the majority of which were resistant to at least one class of antibacterial drugs, were reported to CDC's National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) in 2009-2010 (Ref. 132, Table 7). Thus, Acinetobacter resistance is a wellrecognized and growing problem (see generally, e.g., Ref. 5), and most hospital-acquired A. baumannii are now resistant to multiple classes of antibacterial agents (Ref. 4 at p. 2884 (internal citation omitted)). Indeed, in recognition of this problem, in 2008, the Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) designated Acinetobacter species to be among six highly problematic drug-resistant organisms identified as the so-called "ESKAPE" pathogens, which "currently cause the majority of U.S. hospital infections and effectively 'escape' the effects of antibacterial drugs." 2 (Refs. 5 and 6). Acinetobacter species can survive for prolonged periods in the environment and on the hands of healthcare workers, and as such are well-recognized as transmissible nosocomial pathogens (see, e.g., Ref. 7). Several independent resistance mechanisms, such as those mediated by cephalosporinases, betalactamases, or carbapenemases, have been identified in *Acinetobacter*

species, and some resistance mechanisms (e.g., genes encoding resistance-mediating enzymes) can be readily transferred from one bacteria to another on highly ambulatory genetic cassettes (Ref. 9). In addition, the pool of available effective treatments for *Acinetobacter* infections is shrinking (see, e.g., Ref. 5 at p. 7; Ref. 6).

Patients who acquire a drug-resistant Acinetobacter bloodstream infection appear more likely than those with drug-susceptible infections to suffer deleterious effects from the illness. For example, in a study of patients with A. baumannii bloodstream infections in European intensive care units (ICUs), 74 percent of A. baumannii bloodstream infections were resistant to a commonly used antibacterial drug (Ref. 10 at p. 33, Table 3).3 Patients with resistant A. baumannii bloodstream infections became infected sooner after admission than patients with drug-susceptible A. baumannii (9 days vs. 19 days) (Ref. 10 at p. 33, Table 3). For those who survived, patients infected with resistant bacteria remained in the hospital longer than those infected with susceptible bacteria (20 days vs. 9 days), and, for those who died,4 patients infected with resistant bacteria died sooner after infection than those with susceptible bacteria (5 days vs. 16 days) (Ref. 10 at p. 33, Table 3). In addition, "recent studies of patients in the [ICU] who had [bloodstream infection] and burn infection due to [drug]-resistant Acinetobacter species demonstrate an increased mortality (crude mortality, 26 to 68 percent), as well as increased morbidity and length of stay in the [ICU]" (Ref. 5 at p. 7). Similar trends have been seen for A. baumannii pneumonia in terms of: Prevalence of drug-resistant infection; time from admission to infection; and time from

infection to death (Ref. 10).⁵ In one study of Pakistani newborns with infections caused by *Acinetobacter* species, 57 of 122 *Acinetobacter*-positive cultures (from 78 newborns) showed infection in the bloodstream (Ref. 133). Approximately 71 percent of all *Acinetobacter* infections in the study were susceptible to only one antibacterial drug (polymyxin), and were labeled as a "pan-resistant" (i.e., resistant to many drugs) *Acinetobacter*; 47 percent of the newborns in the study with *Acinetobacter* infections died (Ref. 133).

For the reasons described previously, FDA believes that *Acinetobacter* species have the potential to pose a serious threat to the public health, particularly for hospitalized patients and, FDA is proposing to include *Acinetobacter* species in its list of qualifying pathogens.

B. Aspergillus Species

Members of the *Aspergillus* genus are fungi (specifically, hyaline molds) that have potential to cause serious infections, typically in immunocompromised people. Aspergillus can cause invasive infections of the lungs, skin, sinuses, bone, or brain, or be disseminated throughout the body. It frequently colonizes airway passages, creating the potential for invasive disease among patients who become immunocompromised, such as patients who receive lung transplantation (Ref. 11). In one center, for example, Aspergillus infection (i.e., colonization or evidence of invasive disease) was reported in approximately 30 percent of patients who received lung transplantation (Ref. 11). These fungi also may cause an allergic reaction, which may result in allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis, particularly in those with cystic fibrosis (CF) (Ref. 4 at pp. 3241, 3244–3249).

Invasive aspergillosis often responds poorly to antifungal therapy, even when Aspergillus infections are susceptible to antifungal drugs (Ref. 4 at p. 3250). Therefore, the existence throughout the world of azole-resistant A. fumigatus (i.e., A. fumigatus isolates resistant to the class of drugs comprising several different antifungal drugs in the family of "azole antifungal drugs"), and reports that azole resistant A. fumigatus may be spreading in the environment (see Ref. 12 at pp. 1635–1636) is of great concern—as are the reports of multipledrug resistant A. fumigatus in Europe

² The "ESKAPE" pathogens are: Enterococcus faecium, S. aureus, Klebsiella pneumoniae, A. baumanni, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and Enterobacter species (Ref. 6).

³ All figures represent data for those strains of *A. baumannii* whose resistance status was known, which was approximately 29 percent of all patients with *A. baumannii* bloodstream infections (Ref. 10). Numbers indicate median values (id.).

⁴ The point estimate of the case fatality rate for A. baumannii bloodstream infections among patients in which the results of in vitro antibacterial susceptibility testing were not available for most isolates, was very high at 48 percent (68/142). The point estimate of the case fatality rate was slightly lower for known resistant infections (13/30 or 43 percent), compared to known susceptible infections (6/11 or 55 percent) (Ref. 10 at pp. 33-34). The small denominator of patients with known susceptible A. baumannii bloodstream infections makes it difficult to draw conclusions about a difference in mortality rates based on the in vitro susceptibility profiles; therefore any A. baumannii bloodstream infection, the majority of which appear to be resistant to many antibacterial drugs, is associated with a high mortality rate.

⁵ For *A. baumannii* pneumonia, results of in vitro susceptibility was known for only 34 percent of patients (Ref. 10).

(Refs. 12 and 13). The predominant resistance mechanism in A. fumigatus is thought to be a chromosomally encoded mutation in the target enzyme, although alternative resistance mechanisms have been observed (see, e.g., Ref. 13). In some cases antifungal drugs are recommended as chemical prophylaxis to prevent invasive infections in highrisk patients (Ref. 4 at p. 3253), including some asthmatics (see Ref. 13). However, the use of prophylactic antifungal drugs creates selective pressure on these organisms, thus increasing the risk of drug-resistant Aspergillus colonization and infection. Moreover, European studies have found that many patients who had not received antifungal therapy nevertheless were colonized with resistant strains of A. fumigatus (Ref. 13 (internal citations omitted)).

Many patients with Aspergillus infections are vulnerable already, due to concomitant conditions such as cystic fibrosis or some level of immunodeficiency. Should Aspergillus resistance further diminish the already low efficacy of existing treatments and prophylaxis, patient outcomes would, similarly, be expected to worsen. For the reasons described above, FDA believes that Aspergillus species have the potential to pose a serious threat to the public health, and FDA is proposing to include Aspergillus species in its list of qualifying pathogens.

C. Burkholderia cepacia Complex

The Burkholderia cepacia complex (Bcc) comprises about 10 species of gram-negative bacteria (Ref. 4 at p. 2861). The Burkholderia genus was established relatively recently, however, and species are being identified and added to the Bcc on an ongoing basis (Ref. 4 at p. 2861). Bcc can cause pneumonia, particularly in patients with CF and patients with chronic granulomatous disease (Ref. 4 at pp. 2862, 2865 (internal citation omitted)). Bcc can also cause life-threatening bacteremia among hospitalized patients who are immunocompromised, resulting in a mortality rate of 33 percent of hematology patients with Bcc bacteremia in one academic medical center (Ref. 14). Other outbreaks of serious bacterial infections caused by Bcc have been documented due to nosocomial transmission, indicating the potential for an ease of transmissibility in the hospital setting in patients without CF (see, e.g., Ref. 15).

Bcc infections cause noteworthy levels of morbidity and mortality, particularly in patients with CF (see, e.g., Ref. 14), although outbreaks among patients without CF also have been

reported (see, e.g., Ref. 16). "Increased mortality has been observed in CF patients after colonization with Bcc,'' Ref. 4 at p. 2865 (internal citations omitted); Ref. 17) and, in one study, survival rates for patients with CF who were infected with B. cenocepacia (a Bcc species) were markedly worse than rates for patients with CF who were infected with P. aeruginosa (not a Bcc species) (Ref. 150; see also Ref. 4 at p. 2862, Fig. 220–1 (internal citation omitted)). Because patients with CF often require repeated or chronic administration of antibacterial drugs, antibacterial drug resistance among Bcc isolates can develop through these selective pressures (see Ref. 18 (noting that an increase in antibacterial resistance was observed among patients with CF who received a chronically inhaled antibacterial drug)). In fact, a pan-resistant isolate of Bcc already has been documented in patients with CF (Ref. 19). Although there appear to be limited data on the exact incidence and prevalence of Bcc infection in the CF population, because the average lifespan for patients with CF has been steadily increasing over the past few decades (Ref. 20 at p. 789, Fig. 1), it stands to reason that Bcc colonization and infection in patients with CF likely will increase. Furthermore, although data comparing outcomes of drugresistant infections with outcomes of drug-susceptible infections also are limited, it stands to reason that decreasing susceptibility and resistance patterns in Bcc likely will be observed during the life span of a patient with CF based on selective pressures caused by appropriate use of antibacterial drugs.

For the reasons described previously, FDA believes that these pathogens have the potential to pose a serious threat to the public health—particularly for patients with CF—and FDA is proposing to include Bcc species in its list of qualifying pathogens.

D. Campylobacter Species

The Campylobacter genus comprises several species of gram-negative bacteria, some of which are causative agents of diarrheal and systemic diseases in humans (Ref. 4 at pp. 2793-2796). These are common infections: Campylobacter is estimated to cause over 1.3 million cases of enteric infection in the United States each year (Ref. 42). It is believed that most human infections are caused by consuming contaminated food (e.g., meat) or water (Ref. 4 at p. 2794), though person to person transmission of C. jejuni has been reported to occur through the fecal-oral route, and other routes (Ref. 4 at p. 2795). Transmissibility is readily

apparent, with clinical disease that can be caused by just 500 *Campylobacter* organisms (Ref. 4 at p. 2795), so, for example, "[e]ven one drop of juice from raw chicken meat can infect a person" (Ref. 21).

The following indicates the potential for Campylobacter infections to result in enhanced morbidity and mortality, regardless of whether the bacterium is fully susceptible or is resistant to antibacterial drugs: C. jejuni infections have been linked to reactive arthritis in a certain subset of patients (Ref. 4 at p. 2797), C. jejuni infections are a major cause of Guillain-Barré syndrome (1 case per 2,000 C. jejuni infections, accounting for 20 to 50 percent of all cases of Guillain-Barré syndrome (id.)), and *C. fetus* infections "may be lethal to patients with chronic compensated diseases such as cirrhosis or diabetes mellitus or may hasten the demise of seriously compromised patients" (Ref. 4 at p. 2799). Although many people recover from enteric Campylobacter infections without the need for drug treatment, a variety of antibacterial drugs, including azithromycin, erythromycin, or ciprofloxacin, may be prescribed to treat severe Campylobacter infections (Ref. 21; Ref. 4 at p. 2799).

Drug resistance in Campylobacter species, particularly resistance to fluoroquinolones, has been increasing rapidly (Ref. 4 at p. 2799 (internal citation omitted); see Ref. 22; see also Ref. 134). Indeed, in human Campylobacter infections, resistance has been observed to many different classes of antibacterial drugs (see, e.g., Ref. 22 (internal citations omitted); Ref. 23), and resistance mechanisms can be readily transferred from bacteria to bacteria (Ref. 22). "Infection with C. jejuni strains resistant to erythromycin or fluoroguinolones is more likely to result in prolonged or invasive illness or death" (Ref. 4 at p. 2799), and it stands to reason that drug-resistant strains of other pathogenic Campylobacter species are likely to be similarly problematic. One survey of Campylobacter isolates indicated increasing and high levels of resistance to antibacterial drugs in several classes, with some of the resistance encoded on transferable plasmids (Ref. 24). Because Campylobacter infections are common, any increase in resistance rates may translate quickly into a threat to the public health.

For the foregoing reasons, FDA believes that *Campylobacter* species have the potential to pose a serious threat to public health, and FDA is proposing to include bacteria from the

genus *Campylobacter* in the list of qualifying pathogens.

E. Candida Species

Candida species are fungi (specifically, yeast) that are part of the normal human flora, and thus Candida species can easily be transmitted and can cause invasive disease, particularly among immunocompromised patients (see, e.g., Ref. 4 at pp. 3225–3226; Ref. 25). Candida can infect almost any part of the body to which they are introduced (so-called invasive candidiasis), including the central nervous system, respiratory tract, urinary tract, gastro-intestinal tract, or heart (see Ref. 4 at pp. 3227–3235).

Those who are already fragile are at higher risk of invasive disease (e.g., between 5 percent and 20 percent of neonates weighing less than 2.2 pounds will develop some form of invasive candidiasis (Ref. 26)), and the risk is particularly high in those who are immunocompromised. For example, before the availability of highly-active antiretroviral therapy for the treatment of human immunodeficiency virus/ acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS), invasive candidiasis (such as esophageal candidiasis) was a common infection in this patient population, with a well-documented increase in the rates of antifungal resistance (Ref. 27). Many patients with HIV/AIDS did not respond to standard antifungal therapy and required administration of parenteral antifungal drugs, which limited therapeutic options and was directly associated with the development of resistance (Ref. 27). Today, infections caused by Candida species rank as the fourth most common bloodstream infection in the United States (Ref. 25). Candida bloodstream infections are associated with high mortality rates, with approximately 35 to 40 percent of infected patients dying of Candida infections in a study involving patients in one tertiary-care center (Ref. 28).

Although the problem of invasive candidiasis has diminished in the population of patients with HIV/AIDS due to advances in antiretroviral therapy, the number of patients receiving solid organ transplants, and therefore on immunosuppressive therapy, is increasing (Ref. 29). Experts are now concerned about antifungalresistant invasive candidiasis in this patient population, echoing the concerns previously borne out in the population of patients with HIV/AIDS (see, e.g., Refs. 27 and 30). Transplant patients often take prophylactic antifungal drugs, which exert selective pressure on the Candida organisms and make it more likely that these patients will be colonized by, or develop infections with, drug-resistant fungi. Indeed, it has been noted that *Candida* species with antifungal resistance patterns are emerging as a common fungal infection in this population (Refs. 28 and 30).

Resistance genes in Candida species tend to proliferate in localized populations, though they occasionally may be transferred through mating (Ref. 31). Some reports have documented continued selective pressures of oral antifungal drugs administered as prophylaxis in certain populations, resulting in an increasing rate of infection caused by Candida species resistant to "azole antifungal drugs" (e.g., Candida glabrata and Candida krusei) (see, e.g., Refs. 32 and 33). Selective pressures from the use of oral azole antifungal drugs can shift infections from C. albicans to certain other Candida species, such as Candida glabrata and Candida krusei, which both have intrinsic resistance to azole antifungal drugs and eliminates any possibility of treatment with an oral azole antifungal drug. Thus, some patients with invasive candidiasis already have treatment options limited to only intravenously-administered antifungal drugs (Ref. 34).

For the foregoing reasons, FDA believes that *Candida* species have the potential to pose a serious threat to the public health, and FDA proposes that *Candida* species be included in the list of qualifying pathogens.

F. Clostridium difficile

C. difficile is a toxin-producing grampositive bacterium (Ref. 35) that can cause serious, sometimes fatal, gastrointestinal disease (e.g., toxic megacolon) (see, e.g., Ref. 4 at p. 3104 (internal citation omitted)). The spores of the C. difficile bacteria (see Ref. 36) are difficult to eliminate from the environment, even after disinfection by hand-washing or cleansing, and individuals can acquire the pathogen via contact with either contaminated surfaces or other individuals (see, e.g., Ref. 4 at p. 3104 (internal citation omitted)). CDC estimates that the vast majority of patients with C. difficile infection have had recent contact with healthcare providers, either in an inpatient or outpatient setting (Ref. 37). Because spores of the bacteria are difficult to eliminate from the environment, it is not surprising that transmission of *C. difficile* infection in the hospital environment has been noted (Ref. 37).

Risk of infection with $C.\ difficile$ increases with both a patient's age and

recent antibacterial drug use (Ref. 37). Incidence of *C. difficile*-associated illness has increased significantly over the past several years. For example, "[t]here was an 117% increase in the listing of [C. difficile-associated disease] on hospital discharges in the Healthcare Costs and Utilization Project Net Web site from 2000 to 2005" (Ref. 4 at p. 3106 (internal citation omitted)), and currently, "C. difficile infections are at an all-time high" (Ref. 37). Mortality has been increasing along with infection incidence. One study showed that from 1999 to 2004 in the United States (Ref. 63) there was a 35 percent increase in mortality for which C. difficile infection was listed as a contributing factor. CDC has estimated a 400 percent increase in deaths between 2000 and 2007 in which C. difficile was a contributing factor (Ref. 37). Currently, based on a review of death certificates, about 14,000 American deaths each year list C. difficile infection as a contributing factor; the majority of deaths occur in patients over 65 years of age (Ref. 135).

The use of antibacterial drugs in hospitals has been identified as an important risk factor for C. difficile infections because *C. difficile* is naturally resistant to many commonly used antibacterial drugs. However, the prevalence of *C. difficile* infections is increasing and that has been associated with an increased prevalence of strains with new resistance to fluoroguinolones (see, e.g., Ref. 38). North American epidemiological data have shown the emergence of high levels of resistance to fluoroquinolone antibacterial drugsand this resistance emerged quickly (see, e.g., Ref. 39). As noted by CDC, "even a modest decrease in [drug] susceptibility might be clinically relevant" to the epidemiology of *C.* difficile infections (Ref. 38 at p. 446). Newly acquired resistance by C. difficile to commonly used antibacterials, as in the case of the fluoroquinolones, facilitates the emergence of hypervirulent strains that increase the burden of infections and deaths caused by C. difficile (Refs. 39 and 156).

C. difficile causes serious infections but there are a limited number of effective antibacterial drugs used to treat C. difficile infection, and treatment often lasts for an extended period of time (Ref. 38). Furthermore, relapse or recurrence of C. difficile is common, and often necessitates re-treatment with antibacterial drugs (Ref. 38). In light of these considerations, the increased prevalence of C. difficile infections constitutes a serious threat to the public health (Ref. 39).

Thus, FDA believes that *C. difficile* has the potential to pose a serious threat

to public health. For the reasons described previously—particularly the high prevalence of *C. difficile* infections, the fact that acquired resistance leads to increased infections and deaths via the emergence of hypervirulent strains, and the very limited treatment options—FDA is proposing to include *C. difficile* in its list of qualifying pathogens.

G. Enterobacteriaceae

The Enterobacteriaceae are a family of gram-negative bacteria and include species in the genera Escherichia (e.g., E. coli), Klebsiella, Enterobacter, Shigella, and Salmonella (see Ref. 4 at pp. 2815-2816). Most Enterobacteriaceae are toxin-secreting, and they can cause a variety of serious and life-threatening bacterial diseases (see Ref. 4 at pp. 2819–2829). For example, bloodstream infections, urinary tract infections, pneumonia, and complicated intra-abdominal infections are commonly caused by Enterobacteriaceae, and increasingly these infections are resistant to antibacterial drugs (see, e.g., Refs. 40 and 41). In the United States, there were 1.2 million cases of Salmonella infection each year (Ref. 42). In addition, the rate of hospitalization due to bloodstream infections—many of which are caused by Enterobacteriaceae—doubled from the years 2000 to 2008 (Ref. 43).

Antimicrobial resistance is already a problem for many genera in this family. For example, enteropathic *E. coli* strains "are often resistant to multiple antibiotics" (Ref. 4 at p. 2824 (internal citation omitted)) and "resistant mutants are already present in most patients with *Enterobacter* infections before initiation of therapy" (Ref. 4 at p. 2827). Increased resistance in Shigella strains has been documented in the United States (Refs. 45 and 154) and abroad (Ref. 44), as has increased resistance in Salmonella (Refs. 42 and 155). "In addition, nosocomial isolates [of Klebsiella pneumoniae] are frequently resistant to numerous 'antibacterial drugs' as a result of the acquisition of multidrug-resistant plasmids. For example, K. pneumoniae is one of the most common organisms to carry plasmids encoding extendedspectrum [beta]-lactamases, and bacteremia with such strains is associated with higher rates of treatment failure and death" (Ref. 4 at p. 2826 (internal citation omitted)).

Enterobacteriaceae resistance to betalactam drugs, including, for example, cephalosporins, is well-recognized (see generally, e.g., Refs. 46 and 47), and several resistant strains exist (see, e.g., Ref. 47). Extended-spectrum betalactamase (EBSL) enzymes may be found in several *Enterobacteriaceae* members, and these enzymes "confer resistance against all [beta]-lactam antibiotics except carbapenems and cephamycins" (Ref. 47 at p. 682 (internal citation omitted)).

Additionally, Enterobacteriaceae members can become—and, particularly in the case of *K. pneumoniae* and *E.* coli, commonly have become—resistant to carbapenems (carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae or CRE) (see, e.g., Ref. 48), which are beta-lactam antibiotics that "often are the last line of defense against [g]ram-negative infections that are resistant to other antibiotics" (Ref. 49). Recently, New Delhi metallo-beta-lactamase (NDM), a plasmid-encoded enzyme that permits bacterial resistance to broad-spectrum beta-lactam drugs, including carbapenems, has been reported in cases of Enterobacteriaceae infection in the United States (Refs. 50 and 51). "CRE containing New Delhi metallo-betalactamase (NDM), first reported in a patient who had been hospitalized in New Delhi, India, in 2007, are of particular concern because these enzymes usually are encoded on plasmids that harbor multiple resistance determinants and are transmitted easily to other Enterobacteriaceae and other genera of bacteria" (Ref. 50 (internal citations omitted); see also, e.g., Ref. 4 at p. 2820). A total of 6,470 healthcareassociated infections with Klebsiella species were reported to CDC's NHSN in 2009-2010; on average, approximately 11 percent were resistant to carbapenems and approximately 24 percent were non-susceptible to extended-spectrum cephalosporins. Among 9,351 E. coli infections reported to NHSN in 2009–2010, approximately 2 percent were resistant to carbapenems and approximately 12 percent were nonsusceptible to extended-spectrum cephalosporins (Ref. 132, table 7).

Although NDM-related resistance is only one example, drug-resistance genes in Enterobacteriaceae "may be present on transposons, allowing them to jump to other plasmids or chromosomes, or they may be found on integrons, which have loci downstream of strong promoters at which resistance genes may insert by site-specific recombination to be expressed at high levels" (Ref. 4 at p. 2820; Ref. 52). It is largely for this reason that FDA is proposing to include the entire Enterobacteriaceae family in the list of qualifying pathogens: With each increase in resistance rates seen in one genus or species, increases in antimicrobial resistance may also occur in other pathogens in the family. It is

unsurprising, then, that the proportion of drug-resistant, versus drug-susceptible, *Enterobacteriaceae* infections has increased in the past several years (see, e.g., Refs. 53 and 54). For example, a March 2013 CDC Vital Signs report documented an increase in the percentage of *Enterobacteriaceae* that were non-susceptible to carbapenems, from one to four percent in the past decade (Ref. 136).

Infections with drug-resistant strains of Enterobacteriaceae also result in increased rates of morbidity and mortality when compared with drugsusceptible strains of the same pathogens. In one study, the mortality rate for patients with carbapenemresistant *K. pneumoniae* infections was 48 percent—nearly double the 26 percent mortality rate for patients with carbapenem-susceptible *K. pneumoniae* infections (Ref. 55). These differential outcomes are of particular concern, because the proportion of patients with drug-resistant versus drug-susceptible Enterobacteriaceae infections has increased over the past several years (see, e.g., Refs. 5 and 54).

(see, e.g., Refs. 5 and 54).

There are a limited number of drugs with antibacterial activity for infections

with multiple-drug-resistant Enterobacteriaceae. This means that clinicians may not always be successful in selecting an appropriate initial antibacterial drug for treatment before the availability of the results of *in vitro* antibacterial drug susceptibility testing (Ref. 55 at pp. 1104-1105 ("Our study suggests that [polymyxins, tigecycline, and aminoglycosides], alone or in combination, may not be reliably effective in the treatment of carbapenem-resistant K. pneumoniae infection and that newer antimicrobial agents with improved clinical activity against carbapenem-resistant K. pneumoniae are needed.")). Furthermore, some last-line therapies come with different and potentially more severe adverse effects (e.g., renal toxicity) than the drugs to which many Enterobacteriaceae have become resistant (see, e.g., Ref. 56).

For the reasons described previously, FDA believes that *Enterobacteriaceae* has the potential to pose a serious threat to the public health, and FDA is proposing to include the *Enterobacteriaceae* family in its list of qualifying pathogens.

H. Enterococcus Species

Species in the genus *Enterococcus* are gram-positive bacteria that normally colonize the human gastrointestinal tract (Ref. 4 at p. 2643). Enterococci can cause serious disease, including bacteremia or endocarditis; *E. faecalis*

and E. faecium are most commonly responsible for enterococcal infections and E. gallinarum also has been identified as an infective agent (see Ref. 4 at pp. 2643-2647). Enterococci have been designated by the Infectious Disease Society of America as one of six highly problematic drug-resistant organisms (the so-called "ESKAPE" pathogens), which "currently cause the majority of US hospital infections and effectively 'escape' the effects of antibacterial drugs." (Refs. 5 and 6). Although some enterococcal isolates have intrinsic resistance, other isolates have acquired resistance either from selective antibacterial pressures or from transfer of genetic resistance mechanisms from one bacterium to another, including from non-Enterococcus species (see, e.g., Ref. 4 at pp. 2647-2651; see also Ref. 57).

Enterococcus infections have been reported as the second most common cause of hospital-acquired infection in the United States from 1986 to 1989 (Ref. 58). Among 5,484 E. faecium infections associated with healthcare reported to CDC's NHSN between 2009 and 2011, approximately 80 percent were resistant to vancomycin; in this same report among 3,314 E. faecalis healthcare-associated infections, approximately 9 percent were resistant to vancomycin (Ref. 132, Table 7).

Enterococci infections, including infections caused by enterococci that are drug-resistant (e.g., vancomycinresistant enterococci or VRE), are often nosocomial infections. Enterococci isolates can be resistant to multiple antibacterial drugs; in fact, Enterococcus faecium resistant to linezolid and resistant to vancomycin have been isolated from patients (Ref. 59), and isolates resistant to multiple antibacterial drugs were identified in a global surveillance program (see, e.g., Ref. 60). Patients with bacteremia due to VRE had an increased mortality when compared to patients who had drugsusceptible enterococcal bacteremia (Refs. 61 and 62).

In sum, for the reasons described previously—and particularly because of the increasing threat that drug-resistant enterococci pose to the public health—FDA believes that *Enterococcus* species have the potential to pose a serious threat to public health, and FDA is proposing to include *Enterococcus* species in its list of qualifying pathogens.

I. Mycobacterium tuberculosis Complex

M. tuberculosis, the bacterium that causes tuberculosis (TB), is a major global public health burden (see generally, Ref. 64). M. tuberculosis

usually affects the lungs (pulmonary TB), but M. tuberculosis can affect any part of the body such as the kidney spine, or brain (extrapulmonary TB) (Ref. 65). If TB is not properly treated, it can be fatal (see generally, Ref. 64 and Ref. 65). M. tuberculosis is expelled into the air when a person with TB of the lungs or throat coughs, sneezes, speaks, or sings (Ref. 65). People nearby may breathe in the organisms and become infected. M. tuberculosis can remain in the air for several hours, depending on the environment (Ref. 65). Factors essential for the spread of the organism are proximity and duration of contact and infectiousness of the source patient (Ref. 4 at pp. 3132, 3134). There are at least 7 species of the genus Mycobacterium that also cause disease similar to pulmonary tuberculosis, for example, M. bovis, M. africanum, and M. microti, among other species (Ref.

Latent *M. tuberculosis* is found in one-third of the world's population (Ref. 66). In 2011, there were an estimated 8.7 million new cases and 1.4 million deaths associated with TB (Ref. 64). More than 10,000 new cases of TB were reported in 2011 in the United States (Ref. 67). Mortality figures from CDC reveal that 529 persons died in the United States from tuberculosis in 2009 (Ref. 67).

For *M. tuberculosis*, the primary mechanism of drug resistance is spontaneous chromosomal mutations, which can be amplified in the setting of inappropriate or interrupted therapy (monotherapy and combination therapy) or poor patient adherence to therapy (Ref. 68 at p. 1321). Subsequent transmission of drug-resistant M. tuberculosis will exacerbate the public health problem (Ref. 68). Mobile genetic elements, such as plasmids or transposons, do not appear to mediate drug resistance in *M. tuberculosis* (Ref. 68 at p. 1321). Thus, the increase in drug-resistant tuberculosis that is seen globally (see generally, Ref. 64) is a public health problem driven by inappropriate, interrupted, or poor adherence to therapy among persons being treated for TB (primary resistance), and subsequent transmission of drug-resistant M. tuberculosis from person to person (secondary resistance) (Ref. 68).

Isolates of *M. tuberculosis* resistant to isoniazid and rifampin, the two most important first-line antibacterial drugs used in the treatment of active TB disease, are referred to as multi-drug resistant (MDR) strains (Ref. 65). Extensively drug resistant (XDR) TB is resistant to isoniazid and rifampin, as well as two second-line drug classes

(injectable agents and fluoroquinolones) (Ref. 65). Results from a multinational survey showed that 20 percent of *M. tuberculosis* isolates were MDR, and 2 percent were also XDR (Ref. 69). Resistance mechanisms are wellestablished for most drugs used to treat tuberculosis (Ref. 70), and drug resistant strains of tuberculosis can be transmitted from person to person, as evidenced in a 1991–1992 outbreak investigation in New York City (Ref. 71).

An epidemiological evaluation by CDC of pulmonary tuberculosis among patients in the United States found that mortality rates were higher for patients with XDR tuberculosis compared with those with MDR tuberculosis (35 percent vs. 24 percent, respectively), with the lowest mortality (10 percent) observed in patients with drugsusceptible tuberculosis (Ref. 72 at p. 2157). The authors of this report concluded that, "[t]he emergence of XDR [tuberculosis] globally has raised concern about a return to the preantibiotic era in [tuberculosis] control, since XDR [tuberculosis] cases face limited therapeutic options and consequently have poor treatment outcomes and high mortality," (Ref. 72 at p. 2158).

For the reasons stated previously, FDA believes that *M. tuberculosis* complex has the potential to pose a serious threat to public health, and FDA is proposing to include *M. tuberculosis* complex in the list of qualifying pathogens.

J. Neisseria gonorrhoeae

N. gonorrhoeae is a nonmotile, gramnegative bacterium that can infect the mucous membrane of the urethra and cervix, as well as the rectum, oropharynx, and conjunctivae (Ref. 4 at p. 2753). The pathogen can be transmitted sexually (Ref. 73), as well as vertically from mother to newborn during delivery (Ref. 74). Gonococcal infections can cause complications, such as pelvic inflammatory disease, ectopic pregnancy, epididymitis, ophthalmitis, and endocarditis (Ref. 4 at p. 2753). Gonorrhea is the second most commonly reported notifiable disease in the United States: Over 300,000 cases of gonorrhea are reported annually (Ref. 73). However, many infections are probably undetected and unreported: CDC estimates that more than 800,000 new gonococcal infections occur annually in the United States (Ref. 75). Although the gonorrhea rate is low compared with historical trends, the rate increased during 2009-2011 (Ref.

N. gonorrhoeae can acquire antibacterial drug resistance by

spontaneous chromosomal mutations arising from endogenous flora, or resistance can be acquired by transfer of genetic information from other bacteria by, for example, a plasmid-mediated resistance mechanism (Ref. 76). The Gonococcal Isolate Surveillance Project (GISP) monitors trends in antimicrobial susceptibilities of *N. gonorrhoeae* strains in the United States (Ref. 73).⁶ In 2011, 30.4 percent of isolates collected in the GISP were resistant to penicillin, tetracycline, ciprofloxacin, or a combination thereof (Ref. 73).

Since 2007, the cephalosporins have been the only antibacterial drug class recommended by CDC for the first line treatment of gonorrhea (Ref. 77). On the basis of ongoing surveillance, in 2012, CDC changed its treatment guidelines to recommend dual therapy with intramuscular ceftriaxone (instead of the previously-recommended orallyadministered antibacterial drug), with either azithromycin or doxycycline added not only for treatment of coinfection with Chlamydia trachomatis, but also to "potentially delay emergence and spread of resistance to cephalosporins" in N. gonorrhoeae (Ref. 77). This is the only remaining recommended first-line treatment regimen (Ref. 77). Reduced susceptibility of gonococcal strains to ceftriaxone has also been observed (Ref. 73). Indeed, there is a growing concern that N. gonorrhoeae may become resistant to all available antibacterial drugs (Ref. 78). Significantly, "[u]nsuccessful treatment of gonorrhea with oral cephalosporins, such as cefixime, has been identified in East Asia, beginning in the early 2000s, and in Europe within the past few years. Ceftriaxone-resistant isolates have been identified in Japan (2009), France (2010), and Spain (2011)" (Ref. 153, internal references omitted). The GISP reported that cephalosporin-resistance may now be emerging in the United States (Ref. 153).

For the reasons stated previously—particularly the increase in antibiotic resistant strains of gonorrhea together with the limited number of effective antibiotics for treatment of N. gonorrhoeae—FDA believes that N. gonorrhoeae has the potential to pose a serious threat to public health, and FDA is proposing to include N. gonorrhoeae on the list of qualifying pathogens.

K. Neisseria meningitidis

N. meningitidis is an aerobic, gramnegative, fastidious diplococcus that is a leading cause of bacterial meningitis and sepsis, and can cause other serious infectious diseases, such as pneumonia, arthritis, otitis media, and epiglottitis (Ref. 79). N. meningitidis can be readily transmitted directly from person to person through close or prolonged contact via respiratory or throat droplets (e.g., kissing, sneezing, coughing, or living in close quarters) (Ref. 80).

Meningococcal disease is a global public health concern that remains endemic in the United States, with large epidemics of invasive disease occurring in Africa, New Zealand, and Singapore (Ref. 4 at p. 2740). Nasopharyngeal carriage of N. meningitidis is a precursor to disease (Ref. 4 at p. 2740), and while the majority of carriers do not develop disease, the World Health Organization estimates that, at any given time, 10 to 20 percent of the population carries N. meningitidis in their nasopharynx (Ref. 80). In the United States, the incidence rate is 0.15 to 0.5 per 100,000 persons (see Refs. 81 and 82). Mortality rates vary by the type of infectious disease caused by N. meningitidis, with a 40 percent mortality rate among patients with meningococcemia (Ref. 79), and a 13 percent mortality rate among children and adolescents with bacterial meningitis (Ref. 4 at p. 2741). Morbidity following infection with *N. meningitidis* can be substantial, including hearing loss, neurologic sequelae, and loss of limbs from amputation (Ref. 83 at p. 773).

N. meningitidis is believed to acquire resistance from the wider gene pool of other Neisseria species (Ref. 84 at p. 890) and through point mutations. Antibacterial drug resistance was identified as a concern in N. meningitidis almost 2 decades ago, with a demonstration that resistance to commonly-used antibacterial drugs were increasing in incidence, and the identification of some isolates with betalactamase production (i.e., the production of enzymes that cause bacteria to be resistant to beta-lactam antibacterial drugs), with the author concluding that "this finding is of great concern," (Ref. 85 at p. S98). Invasive meningococcal diseases caused by isolates with reduced susceptibility to penicillin were first reported in the 1980s in the United Kingdom, Spain, and South Africa, and are now identified worldwide (Ref. 139 at p. 1016). Some countries have reported a rise in the prevalence of meningococci with reduced susceptibility to penicillin (see, e.g., Refs. 85 and 141). Case reports

and studies suggest that reduced susceptibility to common antibacterial treatments used for meningococcal infection results in poorer health outcomes (Ref. 83 at p. 776). For example, a Spanish study of isolates from 1988 to 1992 found that patients with strains that had decreased drug susceptibility had higher rates of morbidity and mortality (Ref. 83 at p. 776; Ref. 149 at p. 28). Other sporadic cases of invasive N. meningitidis with reduced susceptibility to antibacterial drugs have been reported worldwide (see, e.g., Refs. 142 and 143). The identification of N. meningitidis isolates that display elevated mutability suggests an increased capacity to develop resistance, in addition to possible enhancement of transmission (see, e.g., Ref. 144).

The detection of *N. meningitidis* with reduced susceptibility or resistance to antibacterial drugs has broad and serious implications for public health, not only for treatment of patients with invasive disease, but also when considering the use of chemoprophylaxis in order to prevent cases of invasive meningococcal disease among close contacts (see, e.g., Refs. 139,142, and 143). In sum, for the reasons described previouslyparticularly because of the potential for higher morbidity and mortality associated with drug-resistant meningococcal infections—FDA believes that N. meningitidis has the potential to pose a serious threat to public health, and FDA is proposing to include N. meningitidis in the list of qualifying pathogens.

L. Non-Tuberculous Mycobacteria Species

Non-tuberculous mycobacterium (NTM) comprises several species of bacterium, including Mycobacterium avium complex, M. kansasii, and M. abscessus (Ref. 4 at p. 3191; Ref. 86). Other species known to cause disease include M. fortuitum, M. chelonae, M. marinum, and M. ulcerans (Ref. 4 at p. 3191). NTM are widely distributed in the environment and can be found in soil, water, plants, and animals (Ref. 4 at p. 3191). Transmission is not communicable, and it appears to occur from environmental exposure to or inhalation of the pathogen (Ref. 87 at p. 370). NTM causes many serious and life-threatening diseases, including pulmonary disease, catheter-related infections, lymphadenitis, skin and soft tissue disease, joint infections, and, in immunocompromised individuals, disseminated infection (Ref. 4 at p. 3192).

⁶ The GISP was established by the CDC in 1986 to monitor trends in antimicrobial susceptibilities of strains of *N. gonorrhoeae* in the United States to establish a rational basis for the selection of gonococcal therapies.

NTM infections appear to be increasing in the United States (see, e.g., Refs. 88 and 89). A recently published study of Medicare patients showed an increasing prevalence of pulmonary NTM across all regions in the United States (Ref. 89 at p. 882). The authors concluded that the annual prevalence significantly increased from 1997 to 2007 from 20 to 47 cases per 100,000 persons, respectively, or an 8.2 percent per year increase in prevalence among the Medicare population. Similarly, a population-based study in Ontario, Canada suggests an increase in the frequency of NTM infections from 9.1 per 100,000 persons in 1997 to 14.1 per 100,000 persons in 2003, resulting in an average annual increase of 8.4 percent (Ref. 90).

Antibacterial drug resistance in these organisms is "the result of a highly complex interplay between natural resistance, inducible resistance and mutational resistance acquired during suboptimal drug exposure and selection," (Ref. 91 at p. 150). Treatment for NTM lung infections requires long courses of therapy, often 18 to 24 months or longer (Ref. 92 at p. 123). Because NTM is resistant to many antibacterial drugs currently available, infections caused by NTM can be difficult to treat. While there are no data from NTM isolates that indicate increasing antibacterial drug resistance, the incidence of NTM infections with intrinsic antibacterial resistance is increasing (Ref. 91). This observation raises concerns that resistant NTM may be responsible for a disproportionate share of clinical infection.

For the reasons stated previously, FDA believes that non-tuberculous mycobacteria species has the potential to pose a serious threat to public health and, FDA is proposing to include non-tuberculous mycobacteria species on the list of qualifying pathogens.

M. Pseudomonas Species

Species of the Pseudomonas genus are gram-negative bacteria that can cause serious infections (Ref. 4 at p. 3025). This is particularly true of P. aeruginosa, which "accounted for 18.1% of hospital-acquired pneumonias and a significant percentage of urinary tract infections (16.3%), surgical site infections (9.5%), and bloodstream infections (3.4%)" in the United States. ICUs in 2003 (Ref. 4 at p. 2837 (citing Ref. 151)). P. aeruginosa is "among the top five causes of nosocomial bacteremia, and severe infection can lead to sepsis" (Ref. 4 at p. 2847). It can grow in many environments (e.g., soil, water, and plants) (Ref. 4 at p. 2835) including moist hospital environments

(e.g., showers, ventilators, mop water), and some healthy people have *P. aeruginosa* as a colonizing bacterium in their skin, throat, nose, or stool (Ref. 4 at p. 2836). *P. aeruginosa* is among the so-called "ESKAPE" pathogens, which "currently cause the majority of US hospital infections and effectively 'escape' the effects of antibacterial drugs." (Refs. 5 and 6). *P. aeruginosa* pulmonary infection among patients with CF is associated with a more rapid decline in lung function (Ref. 18 (internal citation omitted)).

"P. aeruginosa now carries multiple genetically-based resistance determinants, which may act independently or in concert with others" (Ref. 4 at p. 2856 (citing Ref. 152)). Furthermore, P. aeruginosa is known for its ability to "acquire" resistance mechanisms (see, e.g., Ref. 9). P. aeruginosa has been noted to develop resistance during antibacterial drug therapy even when the results of in vitro susceptibility show that the bacterium is fully susceptible when initially exposed to the antibacterial drug. (see, e.g., Ref. 93 (internal citations omitted); see also, e.g., Ref. 4 at p. 2855 (noting that in patients with P. aeruginosa endocarditis there is a "likelihood of the patient's becoming resistant to therapy even if there is initially bloodstream sterilization")). Resistant P. aeruginosa strains may be transmitted from person to person, or via contamination in the environment (see, e.g., Ref. 94). In a recent report from CDC's NHSN, approximately 8 percent of all healthcare-associated infections were caused by *P. aeruginosa*; among the 6,111 P. aeruginosa infections that were reported, approximately 25 percent were resistant to carbapenems and approximately 15 percent showed resistance in at least 3 different classes of antibacterial drugs (i.e., "multi-drug resistant") (Ref. 132 at Table 7).

Morbidity and mortality rates for P. aeruginosa infection are generally recognized as being high (see, e.g., Ref. 93 (internal citations omitted)), and infection with drug-resistant strains may have a negative effect on clinical outcomes, including an association with higher mortality (Ref. 93). Pneumonia and bloodstream infections due to drugresistant P. aeruginosa have been associated with higher mortality rates in comparison to the same infections due to drug-susceptible *P. aeruginosa* (Ref. 10 at pp. 32-33, Tables 2 and 3). Although Pseudomonas non-aeruginosa infections are rare, pathogenic members of the *Pseudomonas* genus can cause serious infections and can show resistance to multiple antibacterial drugs (Ref. 95).

For the reasons described previously—including the prevalence of *Pseudomonas* infections (particularly *P.* aeruginosa), the associated high morbidity and mortality rates, the increasing antibacterial drug resistance, and the fact that the last-line antibacterial drug treatments (required to treat Pseudomonas infections because of its resistance to multiple classes of antibacterial drugs) often have different or more serious adverse effects-FDA believes that Pseudomonas has the potential to pose a serious threat to public health, and FDA is proposing to include Pseudomonas species in its list of qualifying pathogens.

N. Staphylococcus aureus

Staphylococcus aureus is a grampositive bacterium that causes a variety of serious infectious diseases (Ref. 4 at p. 2543). S. aureus infections commonly result in skin or soft tissue infections (see, e.g., Ref. 4 at pp. 2543, 2559), and may result in more life-threatening infections (e.g., pneumonia, bloodstream), often due to infection via catheters, ventilators, or other medical devices or procedures (Ref. 96). S. aureus is one of the most common bacterial pathogens in hospital-acquired infections, and resistance rates for *S*. aureus have been increasing (see, e.g., Refs. 3 and 97). In addition, in the first decade of the 21st century, resistant strains of S. aureus (e.g., methicillinresistant S. aureus or MRSA) that emerged in the community and in some hospitals are now responsible for the majority of S. aureus infections among outpatients (Ref. 98). In the United States in 2005, the rate of invasive MRSA infections was approximately 31.8 infections per 100,000 people (Ref. 99). S. aureus is also a member of the so-called "ESKAPE" pathogens, which "currently cause the majority of U.S. hospital infections and effectively 'escape' the effects of antibacterial drugs." (Refs. 5 and 6). Reports of rapid increases in the proportion of patients hospitalized due to infections caused by MRSA were largely due to increases in skin and soft tissue infections caused by MRSA acquired in the community setting (Ref. 145). The national burden of disease due to MRSA on an outpatient basis is substantial in the United States, with an estimated 51,290 infections reported in 2010 (Ref. 146).

"S. aureus has developed resistance to virtually all antibiotic classes available for clinical use," as demonstrated by a combination of in vivo and in vitro data (Ref. 4 at p. 2558). In fact, numerous antibacterial resistance mechanisms have been documented in S. aureus, including the

transmission of resistance that can occur via plasmids shared between bacteria, or even transfer of resistance mechanisms from different genera of bacteria (see Ref. 100).

Patients with drug-resistant S. aureus infections appear to have higher mortality when compared to patients with drug-susceptible S. aureus infection (Ref. 10, Table 3 (showing a case fatality rate for patients with susceptible S. aureus bloodstream infections of 74/284 (26 percent) and a case fatality rate for patients with resistant *S. aureus* bloodstream infections of 65/171 (38 percent)). Although infections caused by vancomycin-resistant S. aureus (VRSA) have been very rare (see, e.g., Ref. 101), the fact that VRSA has been observed at all underscores that antibacterial drug use can exert selective pressures on \tilde{S} aureus, effectively creating antibacterial drug resistance. When patients have infection with drug-resistant S. aureus, the limited options for therapy may result in concerns about the feasibility of certain therapies (e.g., some treatments involve intravenous administration, which might require hospital admission) or different adverse effect profiles that may negatively affect patients' lives (Ref. 102). It is clear, then, that drug-resistant *S. aureus* poses an increasingly serious threat to public

Therefore, for the reasons described previously, FDA believes that *S. aureus* has the potential to pose a serious threat to public health, and FDA is proposing to include *S. aureus* in its list of qualifying pathogens.

O. Streptococcus agalactiae

Infections caused by S. agalactiae (Group B streptococcus or GBS) are considered a major public health concern, particularly because the organism causes meningitis and sepsis in newborns due to transmission from the mother during labor and delivery (see generally, Refs. 103, 104, and 105). Maternal intrapartum antibacterial prophylaxis is recommended for pregnant women colonized with GBS, and resistance to antibacterial drugs commonly prescribed for prophylaxis is increasing (Ref. 103), thus having the potential to limit options for prophylaxis in this population. The most common diseases caused by GBS in adults are bloodstream infections, pneumonia, endocarditis, skin and softtissue infections, and bone and joint infections (see generally, Ref. 4 at pp. 2655-2661; Ref. 104). GBS infections can also result in other public health concerns, such as miscarriages,

stillbirths, and preterm deliveries (Ref. 105).

Over the past two decades, the incidence rates of GBS have increased twofold to fourfold in nonpregnant adults, "most of whom have underlying medical conditions or are 65 years of age or older," (Ref. 4 at p. 2655). The rate of invasive disease is approximately 7 per 100,000 nonpregnant adults, with the highest rate in adults aged 65 years and older at 20–25 per 100,000 persons (Ref. 106). Case-fatality rates range from 5 to 25 percent in nonpregnant adults (Ref. 4 at p. 2659).

Resistance to antibacterial drugs has emerged in GBS, with most mechanisms believed to be an inducible chromosomally-mediated resistance that can occur due to selective pressures of antibacterial drugs (Ref. 103). Recent epidemiological surveillance shows that resistance to beta-lactam antibacterial drugs, the mainstay of treatment and prevention of GBS infections, has not been identified in the United States (Ref. 107). However, there is the potential in GBS of chromosomallymediated mechanisms conferring decreased susceptibility to beta-lactam antibacterial drugs (Ref. 108). In addition, the potential for the spread of beta-lactamases via plasmid or other genetic transfer mechanisms (see Ref. 109) to GBS will continue to be a grave concern for public health, given the pivotal role of beta-lactam antibacterial drugs for treatment and prevention of GBS infections.

CDC and researchers from other countries have described patterns of reduced susceptibility and resistance of GBS strains to common antibacterial drugs, including penicillin, macrolides, and clindamycin (see, e.g., Refs. 110 and 111). Because GBS is a common infectious disease and resistance to antibacterial drugs has been observed, it stands to reason that resistance may increase in the future.

For the foregoing reasons, FDA believes that *S. agalactiae* has the potential to pose a serious threat to public health, and FDA is proposing to include *S. agalactiae* in the list of qualifying pathogens.

P. Streptococcus pneumoniae

S. pneumoniae is a gram-positive bacterium that causes bacterial meningitis, bacteremia, respiratory tract infections including pneumonia, and otitis media (see, e.g., Refs. 112 and 113). S. pneumoniae can colonize the nasopharynx region, and transmission from person to person, via close contact by respiratory droplets, is thought to be common (Ref. 112). Although not all persons with S. pneumoniae

colonization go on to develop invasive disease, colonization is a risk factor for disease.

Outbreaks of invasive pneumococcal disease are known to occur in closed populations, such as nursing homes, childcare institutions, prisons, or other institutions (Ref. 112). Invasive disease from S. pneumoniae is a major cause of illness and death in the United States, with an estimated 43,500 cases and 5,000 deaths in 2009 (Ref. 114). In the United States, among elderly adults hospitalized with invasive pneumonia, the mortality rate is approximately 14 percent (Ref. 115). Resistance to commonly used antibacterial drugs for treatment of S. pneumoniae has been observed: Surveillance studies conducted in the United States between 1994 and 2007 showed that 9 to 24 percent of pneumococci were resistant to at least 3 classes of antibiotics (Ref. 113).

High rates of antibacterial drug resistance in S. pneumoniae have been documented worldwide. For example, S. pneumoniae resistance to commonlyused antibacterial drugs has been established for several decades, with incidence of resistance to penicillin in the United States approaching 40 percent in the late 1990s (Ref. 116). In China, approximately 96 percent of all recent S. pneumoniae isolates were resistant to erythromycin, and multidrug resistance was prevalent in many Asian countries (Ref. 117). In certain European countries, the proportion of isolates with resistance to multiple antibacterial drugs increased from 2006 to 2009 (e.g., in Bulgaria, resistance to penicillin increased from approximately 7 percent of isolates in 2006 to approximately 37 percent of isolates in 2009) (Ref. 118 at pp. 20, 23). In the United States, some children with middle ear infection had strains of S. pneumoniae that were resistant to all antibacterial drugs that have an FDAapproved label for treatment of acute bacterial otitis media in children (Ref. 147). Development of resistance by S. pneumoniae strains to macrolide antibacterial drugs and the closelyrelated azolide drugs, which has been increasing in incidence, can be due to efflux-mediated mechanisms or target modifications caused by a ribosomal methylase (Ref. 148). It is speculated that increased use of macrolide antibacterial drugs may have exerted pressures in which resistance mechanisms spontaneously occurred (Ref. 148).

For the reasons described previously, including that current strains of pneumococcal disease are associated with increased resistance to commonly

used antibacterial drugs, FDA believes that *S. pneumoniae* has the potential to pose a serious threat to public health, and FDA is proposing to include *S. pneumoniae* in the list of qualifying pathogens.

Q. Streptococcus pyogenes

S. pyogenes (group A streptococcus or GAS) is a gram-positive bacterium that causes acute pharyngitis, in addition to other serious infectious diseases, such as necrotizing fasciitis and toxic shock syndrome (see generally, Ref. 4 at pp. 2593–2596). GAS is likely transmitted from person to person via respiratory droplets. Close personal contact, such as in schools, appears to favor spread of the organism (Ref. 4 at p. 2595).

A study published in 2003 found that approximately 1.8 million people in the United States are diagnosed with streptococcal pharyngitis annually (Refs. 119 and 120). Although streptococcal pharyngitis is typically a mild disease, in rare cases, it can result in severe post-infectious complications (see generally, Ref. 121). Though the annual incidence of invasive GAS disease is estimated to be approximately 4.3 per 100,000 persons per year, the rate of mortality associated with invasive GAS infections is high, with an estimate of 0.5 per 100,000 persons per year (Ref. 122). This means that in the United States, each year over 13,000 people are estimated to acquire an invasive GAS infection annually, and over 1,500 people are estimated to die from an invasive GAS infection (Ref.

For over 80 years, GAS isolates have remained susceptible to penicillin, though reports of resistance to other antibacterial drugs have emerged in GAS, primarily by chromosomally mediated mechanisms (see generally, Refs. 123 and 124). However, recently identified genes in GAS encode for several penicillin-binding proteins, but a reason for why these genes are not expressed has yet to be determined (Ref. 123). In addition, there is an ongoing concern that transfer of antibacterial resistance to GAS by plasmid or other genetic transfer might occur at some point in the future (Ref. 109). Indeed, microbiology laboratories are encouraged to continue to perform in vitro susceptibility testing on all GAS isolates in order to monitor for the possibility of resistance (Ref. 123). Thus, given the pivotal role of the beta-lactam antibiotic penicillin in the treatment of GAS, any resistance that would occur in the future would be of great concern for public health. Antibacterial resistance in S. pyogenes to commonly used drugs has been reported in many countries,

including the United States (Ref. 4 at p. 2599). Resistance to macrolide antibiotics and the closely related azolide group is common and poses a threat because these drugs are often used in penicillin-allergic patients (see Ref. 157). Resistance to clindamycin, a drug used for treatment of patients with necrotizing fasciitis, has also emerged (see Ref. 157).

For the reasons described previously, including the high morbidity and mortality associated with invasive infections, the frequency of less severe infections, the existing resistance to some commonly used agents and the possibility for an increase in resistant strains, GAS infections have the potential to pose a serious threat to public health and, FDA is proposing to include *S. pyogenes* in the list of qualifying pathogens.

R. Vibrio cholerae

Vibrio cholerae is a gram-negative bacterium (Ref. 4 at p. 2777) that can cause cholera, an acute diarrheal illness that can lead to severe dehydration (Ref. 125). Although cholera is found mainly in developing countries with poor sanitation and unsafe water supplies, in the United States, disease may occur in travelers returning from such countries or, more rarely, in those who have eaten contaminated food (see, e.g., Refs. 125 and 126). V. cholerae has the potential to cause pandemics and "the ability to remain endemic in all affected areas' (Ref. 4 at p. 2778 (internal citation omitted)), possibly due to the fact that infected people may shed the bacteria for several months after infection (Ref. 4 at p. 2779).

Antibacterial drug resistance in cholera-causing strains of V. cholerae has increased between 1990 and 2000 in U.S. patients with both domesticallyand internationally-acquired infections (Ref. 126), and antibacterial drug resistance in *V. cholerae* is still increasing generally (Refs. 126, 127, 128, and 129). "Antimicrobial drug resistance in Vibrio [species] can develop through mutation or through acquisition of resistance genes on mobile genetic elements, such as plasmids, transposons, integrons, and integrating conjugative elements," or ICEs (Ref. 127). ICEs in particular "commonly carry several antimicrobial drug resistance genes and play a major role in the spread of antimicrobial drug resistance in V. cholerae" (Ref. 127 at p. 2151; Ref. 130).

Cholera-causing strains of *V. cholerae* may not cause disease in all people (Ref. 131). However, an estimated 10 percent of those infected with the O1 serogroup will develop a severe enough form of

the illness that they need treatment (Ref. 131). Rehydration therapy is the most critical component of cholera treatment (see, e.g., Ref. 140). Approximately 25 to 50 percent of untreated cholera cases may prove fatal (Ref. 125). Antibiotic therapy is recommended for severely ill patients. It stands to reason that the risk of mortality in particular is likely to increase for drug-resistant *V. cholerae* infections among patients with limited treatment options.

For the reasons described previously, including the epidemic potential of toxigenic *V. cholerae* strains, as well as the ease with which this pathogen may be transmitted, this bacterium has the potential to pose a serious threat to public health, and, FDA is proposing to include *V. cholerae* in the list of qualifying pathogens.

VI. Environmental Impact

The Agency has determined under 21 CFR 25.30(h) that this action is of a type that does not individually or cumulatively have a significant effect on the human environment. Therefore, neither an environmental assessment nor an environmental impact statement is required.

VII. Analysis of Economic Impact

A. Preliminary Regulatory Impact Analysis

FDA has examined the impacts of the proposed rule under Executive Order 12866, Executive Order 13563, the Regulatory Flexibility Act (5 U.S.C. 601–612), and the Unfunded Mandates Reform Act of 1995 (Pub. L. 104-4). Executive Orders 12866 and 13563 direct agencies to assess all costs and benefits of available regulatory alternatives and, when regulation is necessary, to select regulatory approaches that maximize net benefits (including potential economic, environmental, public health and safety, and other advantages; distributive impacts; and equity). The Agency believes that this proposed rule is not a significant regulatory action as defined by Executive Order 12866.

The Regulatory Flexibility Act requires agencies to analyze regulatory options that would minimize any significant impact of a rule on small entities. Because the proposed rule would not impose direct costs on any entity, regardless of size, but rather would clarify certain types of pathogens for which the development of approved treatments might result in the awarding of QIDP designation and exclusivity to sponsoring firms, FDA proposes to certify that the final rule would not have

a significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities.

Section 202(a) of the Unfunded Mandates Reform Act of 1995 requires that agencies prepare a written statement, which includes an assessment of anticipated costs and benefits, before proposing "any rule that includes any Federal mandate that may result in the expenditure by State, local, and tribal governments, in the aggregate, or by the private sector, of \$100,000,000 or more (adjusted annually for inflation) in any one year." The current threshold after adjustment for inflation is \$139 million, using the most current (2011) Implicit Price Deflator for the Gross Domestic Product. FDA does not expect this proposed rule to result in any 1year expenditure that would meet or exceed this amount.

B. Background

Antibacterial research and development has reportedly declined in recent years. A decrease in the number of new antibacterial products reaching the market in recent years has led to concerns that the current drug pipeline for antibacterial drugs may not be adequate to address the growing public health needs arising from the increase in antibiotic resistance. A number of reasons have been cited as barriers to robust antibacterial drug development including smaller profits for shortcourse administration of antibacterial drugs compared with long-term use drugs to treat chronic illnesses, challenges in conducting informative clinical trials demonstrating efficacy in treating bacterial infections, and growing pressure to develop appropriate limits on antibacterial drug use.

One mechanism that has been used to encourage the development of new drugs is exclusivity provisions which provide for a defined period during which an approved drug is protected from submission or approval of certain potential competitor applications. By securing additional guaranteed periods of exclusive marketing, during which a drug sponsor would be expected to benefit from associated higher profits, drugs that might not otherwise be developed due to unfavorable economic factors may become commercially attractive to drug developers.

In recognition of the need to stimulate investments in new antibiotic drugs, Congress enacted the GAIN title of FDASIA to create an incentive system. The primary framework for encouraging antibiotic development became effective on July 9, 2012, through a self-implementing provision that authorizes FDA to designate human antibiotic or antifungal drugs that treat "serious or

life-threatening infections" as QIDPs. With certain limitations set forth in the statute, a sponsor of an application for an antibiotic or antifungal drug that receives a QIDP designation gains an additional 5 years of exclusivity to be added to certain exclusivity periods for that product. Drugs that receive a QIDP designation are also eligible for designation as a fast-track product and an application for such a drug is eligible for priority review.

C. Need for and Potential Effect of the Regulation

Between July 9, 2012, when the GAIN title of FDASIA went into effect, and January 31, 2013, FDA granted 11 QIDP designations. As explained previously, the statutory provision that authorizes FDA to designate certain drugs as QIDPs is self-implementing, and inclusion of a pathogen on the list of "qualifying pathogens" does not determine whether a drug proposed to treat an infection caused by that pathogen will be given OIDP designation. However, section 505E(f) of the FD&C Act, added by the GAIN title of FDASIA, requires that FDA establish a list of "qualifying pathogens." This proposed rule is intended to satisfy that obligation, as well as the statute's directive to make public the methodology for developing such a list of "qualifying pathogens." The proposed rule identifies 18 "qualifying pathogens," including those provided as examples in the statute, which FDA has concluded have "the potential to pose a serious threat to public health" and proposes to include on the list of "qualifying pathogens."

As previously stated, this proposed rule would not change the criteria or process for awarding QIDP designation, or for awarding extensions of exclusivity periods. That is, the development of a treatment for an infection caused by a pathogen included in the list of "qualifying pathogens" is neither a necessary nor a sufficient condition for obtaining QIDP designation, and, as stated in section 505E(c) of the FD&C Act, not all applications for a QIDP are eligible for an extension of exclusivity. Relative to the baseline in which the exclusivity program under GAIN is in effect, we anticipate that the incremental effect of this rule would be negligible.

To the extent that this rule causes research and development to shift toward treatments for infections caused by pathogens on the list and away from treatments for infections caused by other pathogens, the opportunity costs of this rule would include the forgone net benefits of products that treat or prevent pathogens not included in the

list, while recipients of products to treat infections caused by pathogens on the list would receive benefits in the form of reduced morbidity and premature mortality. Sponsoring firms would experience both the cost of product development and the economic benefit of an extension of exclusivity and of potentially accelerating the drug development and review process with fast-track status and priority review. If this rule induces greater interest in seeking QIDP designation than would otherwise occur, FDA would also incur additional costs of reviewing applications for newly-developed antibacterial or antifungal drug products under a more expedited schedule.

Given that the methodology for including a pathogen in the list of "qualifying pathogens" was developed with broad input, including input from industry stakeholders and the scientific and medical community involved in anti-infective research, we expect that the pathogens listed in this proposed rule reflect not only current thinking regarding the types of pathogens which have the potential to pose serious threat to the public health, but also current thinking regarding the types of pathogens that cause infections for which treatments might be eligible for QIDP designation. To the extent that there is overlap between drugs designated as QIDPs and drugs developed to treat serious or lifethreatening infections caused by pathogens listed in this proposed rule, this proposed rule would have a minimal impact in terms of influencing the volume or composition of applications seeking QIDP designation, compared to what would otherwise occur in the absence of this rule.

VIII. Paperwork Reduction Act

FDA concludes that this proposed rule does not contain a "collection of information" that is subject to review by the Office of Management and Budget under the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995 (the PRA) (44 U.S.C. 3501-3520). This proposed rule interprets some of the terms used in section 505E of the FD&C Act and proposes "qualifying pathogen" candidates. Inclusion of a pathogen on the list of "qualifying pathogens" does not confer any information collection requirement upon any party, particularly because inclusion of a pathogen on the list of "qualifying pathogens," and the QIDP designation process, are distinct processes with differing standards.

The QIDP designation process will be addressed separately by the Agency at a later date. Accordingly, the Agency will analyze any collection of information or additional PRA-related burdens associated with the QIDP designation process separately.

IX. Federalism

FDA has analyzed this proposed rule in accordance with the principles set forth in Executive Order 13132. FDA has determined that the proposed rule, if finalized, would not contain policies that would have substantial direct effects on the States, on the relationship between the National Government and the States, or on the distribution of power and responsibilities among the various levels of government. Accordingly, the Agency tentatively concludes that the proposed rule does not contain policies that have federalism implications as defined in the Executive order and, consequently, a federalism summary impact statement is not required.

X. Comments

Interested persons may submit either electronic comments regarding this document to http://www.regulations.gov or written comments to the Division of Dockets Management (see ADDRESSES). It is only necessary to send one set of comments. Identify comments with the docket number found in brackets in the heading of this document. Received comments may be seen in the Division of Dockets Management between 9 a.m. and 4 p.m., Monday through Friday, and will be posted to the docket at http://www.regulations.gov.

XI. References

The following references have been placed on display in the Division of Dockets Management (see ADDRESSES) and may be seen by interested persons between 9 a.m. and 4 p.m., Monday through Friday, and are available electronically at http://www.regulations.gov. (FDA has verified the Web site addresses in this reference section, but we are not responsible for any subsequent changes to Web sites after this document publishes in the Federal Register.)

- Roberts, R. R., B. Hota, I. Ahmad, et al., "Hospital and Societal Costs of Antimicrobial-Resistant Infections in a Chicago Teaching Hospital: Implications for Antibiotic Stewardship," Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2009;49:1175–1184 (available at http:// cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/49/8/ 1175.full.pdf+html).
- Howard, D. H., R. D. Scott II, R. Packard, et al., "The Global Impact of Drug Resistance," Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2003;36(Suppl 1):S4–S10 (available at http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/36/ Supplement_1/S4.full.pdf+html).

- 3. Niedell, M.J., B. Cohen, Y. Furuya, et al., "Costs of Healthcare- and Community-Associated Infections With Antimicrobial-Resistant Versus Antimicrobial-Susceptible Organisms," Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2012;55(6):807–15 (available at http:// cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/55/6/807. full.pdf+html).
- Mandell, G.L., J.E. Bennett, R. Dolin, et al., Mandell, Douglas, and Bennett's Principles and Practice of Infectious Diseases. 7th Ed., 2010.
- Boucher, H. W., G. H. Talbot, J. S. Bradley, et al., "Bad Bugs, No Drugs: No ESKAPE! An Update from the Infectious Diseases Society of America," Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2009;48:1–12 (available at http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/48/ 1/1.full.pdf+html).
- Rice, L. B., "Federal Funding for the Study of Antimicrobial Resistance in Nosocomial Pathogens: No ESKAPE," The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 2008;197:1079–81 (available at http:// jid.oxfordjournals.org/content/197/8/ 1079.full.pdf+html).
- Sunenshine, K. H., M. Wright, L. L. Maragakis, et al., "Multidrug-Resistant Acinetobacter Infection Mortality Rate and Length of Hospitalization," Emerging Infectious Diseases, January 2007;13(1):97–103 (available at http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC2725827/).
- 8. Walsh, T. R., "The Emergence and Implications of Metallo-Beta-Lactamases in Gram-Negative Bacteria," Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 2005;11 (Suppl 6):2–9 (available at http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2005.01264.x/pdf).
- 9. Bonomo, R. A. and D. Szabo, "Mechanisms of Multidrug Resistance in Acinetobacter Species and Pseudomonas aeruginosa," Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2006;43:S49–56 (available at http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/43/Supplement_2/S49.full.pdf).
- Lambert, M. L., C. Seutens, A. Savey, et al., "Clinical Outcomes of Health-Care Associated Infections and Antimicrobial Resistance in Patients Admitted to European Intensive-Care Units: A Cohort Study," The Lancet, 2011;11:30–38 (available at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S147330991 0702589).
- 11. Iverson, M., C. M. Burton, S. Vand, et al., "Aspergillus Infection in Lung Transplant Patients: Incidence and Prognosis," European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases, 2007;26:879–886 (available at http://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007%2 Fs10096-007-0376-3).
- 12. Snelders, E., H. A. van der Lee, J. Kuijpers, et al., "Emergence of Azole-Resistance in Aspergillus fumigatus and Spread of a Single Resistance Mechanism," PLOS Medicine, 2008;5(11):1629–1637 (available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2581623/).
- 13. Bowyer, P., C. B. Moore, R. Rautemaa, et al., "Azole Antifungal Resistance Today:

- Focus on Aspergillus," Current Infectious Diseases Reports, published online September 20, 2011 (available at http://130.88.242.202/medicine/Aspergillus/Dropbox/Aspergillus_Website/aspergillus-web/articlesoverflow/21931980.pdf).
- 14. Vardi, A., Á. Śirigou, C. Lalayanni, et al., "An outbreak of Burkholderia cepacia Bacteremia in Hospitalized Hematology Patients Selectively Affecting Those With Acute Myeloid Leukemia," American Journal of Infection Control, April 2013;41(4):312–316 (available at http://ac.els-cdn.com/S019665531 2008073/1-s2.0-S0196655312008073-main.pdf?_tid=ee958312-5999-11e2-819f-00000aacb360&acdnat=13576 53024_abb49ea2a3c9ab83b110c616 be32adba).
- 15. Liao, C., H. Chang, C. Lai, et al., "Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes of Patients With Burkholderia cepacia Bacteremia in an Intensive Care Unit," Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease, 2011;70:260–266 (available at http://ac.els-cdn.com/S0732889311000149/1-s2.0-S0732889311000149-main.pdf?_tid=96b0ff9e-599b-11e2-9e5a-00000 aab0f6b&acdnat=1357653735_4a18e7244f5de98f01968ed49c7e6e2d).
- 16. Siddiqui, A. H., M. E. Mulligan, E.
 Mahenthiralingam, et al., "An Episodic
 Outbreak of Genetically Related
 Burkholderia cepacia Among Non-Cystic
 Fibrosis Patients at a University
 Hospital," Infection Control and
 Hospital Epidemiology, July
 2001;22(7):419–422 (available at http://
 www.jstor.org/stable/pdfplus/10.1086/
 501927.pdf?acceptTG=true).
- 17. Courtney, J. M., J. Bradley, J. Mccaughan, et al., "Predictors of Mortality in Adults With Cystic Fibrosis," *Pediatric Pulmonology*, 2007;42:525–532 (available at http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ppul.20619/pdf).
- 18. Flume, P. A., B. P. O'Sullivan, K. A. Robinson, et al., "Cystic Fibrosis Pulmonary Guidelines: Chronic Medications for Maintenance of Lung Health," American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2007;176:957–969 (available at http://www.sgpp-schweiz.ch/downloads_cms/cf_pulmonary_guidelines_ajrccm_2007_pdf).
- 19. Moore, J. É., M. Crowe, A. Shaw, et al., "Antibiotic Resistance in *Burkholderia* cepacia at Two Regional Centres in Northern Ireland: Is There a Need for Synergy Testing?," *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 2001;48:319–321 (available at http://jac.oxfordjournals.org/content/48/2/319.full.pdf+html).
- 20. Marshall, B. C., C. M. Penland, L. Hazle, et al., "Cystic Fibrosis Foundation: Achieving the Mission," *Respiratory Care*, 2009;54(6):788–795 (available at: http://services.aarc.org/source/DownloadDocument/Downloaddocs/06.09.0788.pdf).
- 21. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Campylobacter: General

- Information," July 20, 2010 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/nczved/divisions/dfbmd/diseases/campylobacter/).
- Luangtongkum, T., B. Jeon, J. Han, et al., "Antibiotic Resistance in Campylobacter: Emergence, Transmission, and Persistence," Future Microbiology, 2009;4(2):189–200 (available at http://www.future medicine.com/doi/pdf/10.2217/1746 0913.4.2.189).
- 23. Thakur, S., S. Zhao, P. F. McDermott, et al., "Antimicrobial Resistance, Virulence, and Genotypic Profile Comparison of Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli Isolated from Humans and Retail Meats," Foodborne Pathogens and Disease, 2010;7(7):835–844 (available at http://online.liebert pub.com/doi/pdf/10.1089/fpd.2009.0487).
- 24. Mazi, W., A. Senok, A. Al-Mahmeed, et al., "Trends in Antibiotic Sensitivity Pattern and Molecular Detection of tet(O)-Mediated Tetracycline Resistance in Campylobacter jejuni Isolates From Human and Poultry Sources," Japanese Journal of Infectious Diseases, 2008;61:82–84 (available at http://www0.nih.go.jp/JJID/61/82.pdf).
- 25. Kanji, J. N., M. Laverdiere, C. Rotstein, et al., "Treatment of Invasive Candidiasis in Neutropenic Patients: Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Treatment Trials," *Leukemia & Lymphoma*, 2012;Early Online:1–9 (available at http://informahealth care.com/doi/pdf/10.3109/104 28194.2012.745073).
- 26. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Invasive Candidiasis Statistics," February 27, 2012 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/fungal/candidiasis/invasive/statistics.html).
- 27. Maenza, J. R., J. C. Keruly, R. D. Moore, et al., "Risk Factors for Fluconazole-Resistant Candidiasis in Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected Patients," The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 1996;173:219–225 (available at http://jid.oxfordjournals.org/content/173/1/219.full.pdf+html?sid=afae602f-b586-4c4a-b575-8e41d09ac0d5).
- Bedini, A., C. Venturelli, C. Mussini, et al., "Epidemiology of Candidaemia and Antifungal Susceptibility Patterns in an Italian Tertiary-Care Hospital," Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 2006;12(1):75–80 (available at http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2005.01310.x/pdf).
- 29. American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplant Surgeons, "Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network and Scientific Registry of Transplant Recipients: 2010 Data Report," American Journal of Transplantation, 2012;12(Suppl 1):1–154 (available at http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03886.x/pdf).
- 30. Śilviera, F. P. and S. Husain, "Fungal Infections in Solid Organ Transplantation," *Medical Mycology*, June 2007;45(4):305–320 (available at http://informahealthcare.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/13693780701200372).

- Anderson, J. B., "Evolution of Anti-Fungal Drug Resistance: Mechanisms and Pathogen Fitness," Microbiology, July 2005;3:547–556 (available at http:// 130.88.242.202/medicine/Aspergillus/ Dropbox/Aspergillus_Web site/ aspergillus-web/articlesoverflow/1595 3931.pdf).
- 32. Abi-Said, D., E. Anaissie, O. Uzun, et al., "The Epidemiology of Hematogenous Candidiasis Caused by Different Candida Species," Clinical Infectious Diseases, 1997;24:1122–1128 (available at http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/24/6/ 1122.full.pdf+html?sid=cb053796-673a-455c-86da-66987c13857f).
- 33. Wingard, J. R., W. G. Merz, M. G. Rinaldi, et al., "Increase in Candida krusei Infection Among Patients With Bone Marrow Transplantation and Neutropenia Treated Prophylactically With Fluconazole," New England Journal of Medicine, 1991;325(18):1274–1277 (available at http://www.nejm.org/doi/pdf/10.1056/NEJM199110313251803).
- Ullmann, A. J., M. Akova, R. Herbrecht, et al., "ESCMID Guideline for the Diagnosis and Management of Candida Diseases 2012: Adults With Haematological Malignancies and After Haematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation (HCT)," Clinical Microbiology and Infection, December 2012;18(Suppl 7):53–67 (available at http://www.escmid.org/fileadmin/src/media/PDFs/4ESCMID_Library/2Medical_Guidelines/ESCMID_Guidelines/ESCMID_Guidelines/ESCMID_Guidelines/ESCMID_Guidelines_CMI_Dec2012_HCT.pdf).
 Centers for Disease Control and
- 35. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Frequently Asked Questions About Clostridium difficile for Healthcare Providers," March 6, 2012 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/HAI/organisms/cdiff/Cdiff_faqs_HCP.html#a1).
- 36. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Clostridium difficile Excerpt: Guideline for Environmental Infection Control in Health-Care Facilities, 2003," November 24, 2010 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/HAI/organisms/cdiff/Cdiff_excerpt.html).
- 37. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Making Healthcare Safer: Stopping C. difficile Infections," Vital Signs, August 21, 2012 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/hai/).
- 38. Cohen, S. H., D. N. Gerding, S. Johnson, et al., "Clinical Practice Guidelines for Clostridium difficile Infection in Adults: 2010 Update by the Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America (SHEA) and the Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA)," Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology, 2010;31(5):431–455 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/HAI/pdfs/cdiff/Cohen-IDSA-SHEA-CDI-guidelines-2010.pdf).
- 39. Miao, H., F. Miyajima, P. Roberts, et al., "Emergence and Global Spread of Epidemic Healthcare-Associated Clostridium difficile," Nature Genetics, 2013;45:109–113 (available at http:// www.nature.com/ng/journal/vaop/ ncurrent/full/ng,2478.html).

- 40. van Duin, D., K. S. Kaye, E. A. Neuner, et al., "Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacteriaceae: a Review of Treatment and Outcomes," Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease, February 2013;75(2):115–120 (available at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0732889312004920).
- 41. Sandora, T. J. and D. A. Goldmann, "Preventing Lethal Hospital Outbreaks of Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria," New England Journal of Medicine, 2012;367(23):2168–2170 (available at http://www.nejm.org/doi/pdf/10.1056/ NEJMp1212370).
- 42. "Scallan, E., R. M. Hoekstra, F. J. Angulo, et al., "Foodborne Illness Acquired in the United States—Major Pathogens," *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 2011;17(1):7–15 (available at http://www.nc.cdc.gov/eid/article/17/1/p1–1101 article.htm).
- 43. Hall, M. J., S. N. Williams, C. J. DeFrances, et al., "Inpatient Care for Septicemia or Sepsis: A Challenge for Patients and Hospitals," National Center for Health Statistics Data Brief, June 2011;62:1–8 (available at http:// www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/ db62.pdf).
- 44. Ashkenazi, S., I. Levy, V. Kazaronovski, et al., "Growing Antimicrobial Resistance of Shigella Isolates," Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 2003;51:427–429 (available at http://jac.oxfordjournals.org/content/51/2/427.full.pdf+html).
- 45. Sjölund Karlsson, M., A. Bowen, R. Reporter, et al., "Outbreak of Infections Caused by Shigella sonnei with Reduced Susceptibility to Azithromycin in the United States," Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 2013;57(3):1559–1560 (available at http://aac.asm.org/content/57/3/1559.full.pdf+html).
- 46. Potz, N. A. C., R. Hope, M. Warner, et al., "Prevalence and Mechanisms of Cephalosporin Resistance in Enterobacteriaceae in London and South-East England," Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 2006;58:320–326 (available at http://jac.oxfordjournals.org/content/58/2/320.full.pdf+html).
- 47. Ben-Ami, R., J. Rodríguez-Baño, H. Arslan, et al., "A Multinational Survey of Risk Factors for Infection with Extended-Spectrum [beta]-Lactamase Producing Enterobacteriaceae in Nonhospitalized Patients," Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2009;49:682–90.
- 48. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacteriaceae," March 15, 2013 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/hai/ organisms/cre/index.html).
- 49. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Klebsiella pneumoniae in Healthcare Settings," August 27, 2012 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/HAI/organisms/klebsiella/klebsiella.html).
- 50. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacteriaceae Containing New Delhi Metallo-Beta-Lactamase in Two Patients—Rhode Island, March 2012,"

- Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, June 22, 2012;61(24):446–448 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6124a3.htm?s_cid=mm6124a3 w).
- 51. Savard, P., R. Gopinath, W. Zhu, et al., "First NDM-Positive Salmonella sp. Strain Identified in the United States," Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, December 2011;55(12):5957–5958 (available at http://aac.asm.org/content/55/12/ 5957.full.pdf+html).
- 52. Leverstein-van Hall, M. A., A. Paauw, A. T. A. Box, et al., "Presence of Integron-Associated Resistance in the Community Is Widespread and Contributes to Multidrug Resistance in the Hospital," *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, August 2002;40(8):3038–3040 (available at http://jcm.asm.org/content/40/8/3038.full.pdf+html).
- 53. Schwaber, M. J. and Y. Carmeli, "Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacteriaceae—A Potential Threat," The Journal of the American Medical Association, 2008;300(24):2911–2913 (available at http:// jama.jamanetwork.com/data/Journals/ JAMA/4445/jco80117_2911_2913.pdf).
- 54. Nordman, P., T. Naas, and L. Poirel, "Global Spread of Carbapenemase-Producing Enterobacteriaceae," Emerging Infectious Diseases, 2011;17(10):1791–1798 (available at http://wwwnc.cdc.gov/eid/article/17/10/ 11–0655 article.htm).
- 55. Patel, G., S. Huprikar, S. H. Factor, et al., "Outcomes of Carbapenem—Resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae Infection and the Impact of Antimicrobial and Adjunctive Therapies," Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology, December 2008;29(12):1099–1106 (available at http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1086/ 592412).
- 56. Falagas, M. E. and S. K. Kasiakou, "Toxicity of Polymyxins: A Systematic Review of the Evidence From Old and Recent Studies," Critical Care, 2006;10(1):R27 (available at http:// ccforum.com/content/pdf/cc3995.pdf).
- 57. Gold, H. S., "Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococci: Mechanisms and Clinical Observations," Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2001;33:210–219 (available at http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/33/ 2/210.full.pdf+html).
- 58. Schaberg, D. R., D. H. Culver, and R. P. Gaynes, "Major Trends in the Microbial Etiology of Nosocomial Infection," The American Journal of Medicine, 1991;91(Suppl 3B):72S–5S (available at http://repub.eur.nl/res/pub/7610/StaphyloMajorTrends_1991.pdf).
- 59. Herrero, I. A., N. C. Issa, and R. Patel, "Nosocomial Spread of Linezolid-Resistant, Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococcus faecium," New England Journal of Medicine, 2002;346:867–869 (available at http://www.nejm.org/doi/ full/10.1056/NEJM200203143461121).
- 60. Low, D. E., N. Keller, A. Barth, et al., "Clinical Prevalence, Antimicrobial Susceptibility, and Geographic Resistant Patterns of Enterococci: Results From the

- SENTRY Antimicrobial Surveillance Program, 1997–1999," Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2001;32(Suppl 2):S133–S145 (available at http:// cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/32/ Supplement_2/S133.full.pdf).
- 61. Salgado, C. D. and B. M. Farr, "Outcomes Associated With Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococci: A Meta-Analysis," *Infection* Control and Hospital Epidemiology, 2003;24(9):690–698 (available at http:// www.jstor.org/stable/pdfplus/10.1086/ 502271.pdf?acceptTC=true).
- 62. DiazGranados, C. A., S. M. Źimmer, M. Klein, et al., "Comparison of Mortality Associated With Vancomycin-Resistant and Vancomycin-Susceptible Enterococcal Bloodstream Infections: A Meta-Analysis," Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2005;41:327–333 (available at http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/41/3/327.full.pdf+html).
- 63. Redelings, M. D., F. Sorvino, and L. Mascola, "Increase in *Clostridium difficile*-Related Mortality Rates, United States, 1999–2004," *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 2007;13(9):1417–1419 (available at http://wwwnc.cdc.gov/eid/article/13/9/pdfs/06–1116.pdf).
- 64. World Health Organization, "Global Tuberculosis Report 2012" (available at http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ 10665/75938/1/ 9789241564502 eng.pdf).
- 65. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Fact Sheet: Multi-Drug Resistant Tuberculosis (MDR TB)" (available at http://www.cdc.gov/tb/ publications/factsheets/drtb/mdrtb.htm).
- 66. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Plan to Combat Extensively Drug-Resistant Tuberculosis Recommendations of the Federal Tuberculosis Task Force," Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, February 13, 2009;58(RR03):1–43 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/rr5803a1.htm).
- 67. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Fact Sheet: Trends in Tuberculosis, 2011" (available at http:// www.cdc.gov/tb/publications/factsheets/ statistics/TBTrends.htm).
- 68. Zhang, Y. and W. W. Yew, "Mechanisms of Drug Resistance in *Mycobacterium* tuberculosis," International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease, 2009;13(11):1320–1330.
- 69. Shi, R., N. Itagaki, and I. Sugawara, " Overview of Anti-Tuberculosis (TB) Drugs and Their Resistance Mechanisms," Mini-Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry, 2007;7(11):1177– 1185.
- 70. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Fact Sheet: Extensively Drug-Resistant Tuberculosis (XDR TB)" (available at http://www.cdc.gov/tb/ publications/factsheets/drtb/xdrtb.htm).
- 71. Čenters for Disease Control and Prevention, "Outbreak of Multidrug-Resistant Tuberculosis at a Hospital—New York City, 1991," Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, June 11, 1993; 42(22):427–434 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/00020788.htm).

- 72. Shah, N. S., R. Pratt, L. Armstrong, et al., "Extensively Drug-Resistant Tuberculosis in the United States, 1993–2007," Journal of the American Medical Association, 2008;300(18):2153–2160 (available at http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=182876).
- 73. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "2011 Sexually Transmitted Diseases Surveillance—Gonorrhea" (available at http://www.cdc.gov/std/stats11/gonorrhea.htm).
- 74. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Sexually Transmitted Diseases Treatment Guidelines 2010, Gonococcal Infections" (available at http://www.cdc.gov/std/treatment/2010/gonococcal-infections.htm).
- 75. Satterwhite, C. L., E. Torrone, E. Meites, et al., "Sexually Transmitted Infections Among US Women and Men: Prevalence and Incidence Estimates, 2008," Sexually Transmitted Diseases, 2013;40(3):187–193 (available at http://journals.lww.com/stdjournal/Abstract/2013/03000/Sexually_Transmitted_Infections_Among_US_Women_and. 1.aspx).
- 76. Fox, K. K., J. S. Knapp, K. K. Holmes, et al., "Antimicrobial Resistance in Neisseria gonorrhoeae in the United States, 1988–1994: The Emergence of Decreased Susceptibility to the Fluoroquinolones," The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 1997;175:1396–1403 (available at http://jid.oxfordjournals.org/content/175/6/1396.long).
- 77. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Update to CDC's Sexually Transmitted Diseases Treatment Guidelines, 2010: Oral Cephalosporins No Longer a Recommended Treatment for Gonococcal Infections," Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, August 10, 2012;61(31);590–594 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6131a3.htm?s_cid=mm6131a3_w).
- 78. Bolan, G. A., P. F. Sparling, and J. N. Wasserheit, "The Emerging Threat of Untreatable Gonococcal Infection," New England Journal of Medicine, 2012;366:485–487 (available at http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMp 1112456).
- 79. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Meningococcal Disease," Epidemiology and Prevention of Vaccine-Preventable Diseases The Pink Book, Course Textbook, chapter 13; 9th ed. 2012 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/pinkbook/downloads/mening.pdf).
- 80. World Health Organization,
 "Meningococcal Meningitis," Fact Sheet
 No. 141; November 2012 (available at
 http://www.who.int/mediacentre/
 factsheets/fs141/en/).
- 81. Čenters for Disease Control and Prevention, "Active Bacterial Core Surveillance (ABCs) Report: Neisseria meningitidis, 2010" (available at http:// www.cdc.gov/abcs/reports-findings/ survreports/mening10.html).
- 82. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Meningococcal Disease,"

- Manual for the Surveillance of Vaccine-Preventable Diseases," chapter 8; 5th ed., 2011 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/ vaccines/pubs/surv-manual/chpt08mening.html).
- Mayers, D. L., S. A. Lerner, M. Ouellette, et al., "Antimicrobial Drug Resistance, Clinical and Epidemiological Aspects, Vol. 2. Humana Press, 2009.
- 84. Wu, H. M., B. H. Harcourt, C. P. Hatcher, et al., "Emergence of Ciprofloxacin-Resistant Neisseria meningitidis in North America," New England Journal of Medicine, 2009;360;9:886–892 (available at http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMoa0806414).
- 85. Oppenheim, B. A., "Antibiotic Resistance in Neisseria meningitidis," Clinical Infectious Diseases, 1997;24(Suppl 1):S98–S101 (available at http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/24/Supplement_1/S98.long).
- 86. Brown-Elliott, B. A., K. A. Nash, and R. J. Wallace, Jr., "Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing, Drug Resistance Mechanisms, and Therapy of Infections With Nontuberculous Mycobacteria," Clinical Microbiology Reviews, 2012; 25(3):545–582 (available at http://cmr.asm.org/content/25/3/545.full).
- 87. Griffith, D. E., T. Aksamit, B. A. Brown-Elliott, et al., "An Official ATS/IDSA Statement: Diagnosis, Treatment, and Prevention of Nontuberculous Mycobacterial Diseases," American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2007;175(4):367–416 (available at http://ajrccm.atsjournals.org/content/175/4/367.full).
- 88. Billinger, M. E., K. N. Olivier, C. Viboud, et al., "Nontuberculous Mycobacteria— Associated Lung Disease in Hospitalized Persons, United States, 1998–2005," Emerging Infectious Diseases, 2009; 15(10) DOI: 10.3201/eid1510.090196 (available at http://wwwnc.cdc.gov/eid/article/15/10/09-0196_article.htm).
- 89. Adjemian, J., K. N. Olivier, A. E. Seitz, et al., "Prevalence of Nontuberculous Mycobacterial Lung Disease in U.S. Medicare Beneficiaries," American Journal of Respiratory Critical Care Medicine, 2012; 185(8):881–886.
- Marras, T. K., P. Chedore, A. M. Ying, et al., "Isolation Prevalence of Pulmonary Non-Tuberculous Mycobacteria in Ontario, 1997–2003," Thorax, 2007;62(8):661–666 (available at http://thorax.bmj.com/content/62/8/661.longthorax.bmj.com/content/62/8/661.long).
- 91. van Ingen, J., M. J. Boeree, D. van Soolingen, et al., "Resistance Mechanisms and Drug Susceptibility Testing of Nontuberculous Mycobacteria," *Drug Resistance Updates*, 2012;15(3):149–161 (available at http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1368764612000180).
- 92. American Thoracic Society,
 "Nontuberculous Mycobacterial
 Disease," Breathing in America:
 Diseases, Progress, and Hope, chapter
 12; 2010 (available at http://www.
 thoracic.org/education/breathing-in-

- america/resources/chapter-12nontuberculous-mycobacterialdisease.pdf).
- 93. Akhabue, E., M. Synnestvedt, M. G. Weiner, et al., "Cefepime-Resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa," Emerging Infectious Diseases, June 2011;17(6):1037–1043 (available at http://wwwnc.cdc.gov/eid/article/17/6/10–0358 article.htm).
- 94. Paterson, D. L., "The Epidemiological Profile of Infections With Multidrug-Resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Acinetobacter* Species," *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 2006;43:S43–8 (available at http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/43/Supplement_2/S43.full.pdf).
- 95. Korcova, J., J. Koprnova, and V. Krcmery, "Bacteraemia Due to Pseudomonas putida and Other Pseudomonas Non-aeruginosa in Children," Journal of Infection, 2005;51(1):81 (available at http://ac.els-cdn.com/S016344530 4001847-1-s2.0-S0163445304001847-main.pdf?_tid=3ed0e950-5e9c-11e2-95ac-00000aacb35f&acdnat=13582 03773_ba2da9f0327b4fb6b1c2696351 6c3dc2).
- 96. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Vancomycin-Intermediate/ Resistant Staphylococcus (VISA/VRSA) in Healthcare Settings," April 25, 2011 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/HAI/ organisms/visa_vrsa/visa_vrsa.html).
- 97. Hota, B., R. Lyles, J. Rim, et al.,
 "Predictors of Clinical Virulence in
 Community-Onset Methicillin-Resistant
 Staphylococcus aureus Infections: The
 Importance of USA300 and Pneumonia,"
 Clinical Infectious Diseases,
 2011;53(8):757–65 (available at http://
 cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/53/8/
 757.full.pdf).
- 98. King, M. D., B. J. Humphrey, Y. F. Wang, et al., "Emergence of Community-Acquired Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus USA 300 Clone as the Predominant Cause of Skin and Soft-Tissue Infections," Annals of Internal Medicine, 2006;144(5):309–317 (available at http://annals.org/article.aspx?articleid=720779).
- 99. Klevens, R. M., M. A. Morrison, J. Nadle, et al., "Invasive Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus Infections in the United States," The Journal of the American Medical Association, 2007;298(15):1763–1771 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/mrsa/pdf/Invasive MRSA JAMA2007.pdf).
- 100. Pantosti, A., A. Sanchini, and M. Monaco, "Mechanisms of Antibiotic Resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus*," Future Microbiology, June 2007;2(3):323–334 (available at http://www.future medicine.com/doi/pdf/10.2217/17460913.2.3.323).
- 101. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Staphylococcus aureus Resistant to Vancomycin—United States, 2002," Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, July 5, 2002;51(26):565–567 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/ preview/mmwrhtml/mm5126a1.htm).
- 102. Liu, C., A. Bayer, S. E. Cosgrove, et al., "Clinical Practice Guideline by the

- Infectious Disease Society of America for the Treatment of Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus Infections in Adults and Children," Clinical Infectious Diseases, 2011;52:1–38 (available at http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/early/2011/01/04/cid.ciq146.full.pdf+html).
- 103. Heelan, J. S., M. E. Hasenbein, and A. J. McAdam, "Resistance of Group B Streptococcus to Selected Antibiotics, Including Erythromycin and Clindamycin," Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 2004;42(3):1263–1264 (available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC356858/).
- 104. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Group B Strep (GBS)—Fast Facts" (available at http://www.cdc.gov/ groupbstrep/about/fast-facts.html).
- 105. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Group B Strep Infection in Newborns" (available at http:// www.cdc.gov/groupbstrep/about/ newborns-pregnant.html).
- 106. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Group B Strep Infection in Adults" (available at http://www.cdc.gov/groupbstrep/about/adults.html).
- 107. Castor, M. L., C. G. Whitney, K. Como-Sabetti, et al., "Antibiotic Resistance Patterns in Invasive Group B Streptococcal Isolates," Infectious Diseases in Obstetrics and Gynecology, 2008; Article ID 727505, doi:10.1155/2008/727505 (available at http://www.hindawi.com/journals/idog/2008/727505).
- 108. Dahesh, S., M. E. Hensler, N. M. Van Sorge, et al., "Point Mutation in the Group B Streptococcal pbp2x Gene Conferring Decreased Susceptibility to Beta-Lactam Antibiotics," Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 2008;52(8):2915–2918 (available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2493126/).
- 109. Poole, K., "Resistance to Beta-Lactam Antibiotics," *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 2004;61:2200–2223 (available at http://link.springer.com/articlearticle/ 10.1007%2Fs00018-004-4060-9).
- 110. Nagano, N., Y. Nagano, K. Kimura, et al., "Genetic Heterogeniety in pbp Genes Among Clinically Isolated Group B Streptococci With Reduced Penicillin Susceptibility," Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 2008;52(12):4258–4267 (available at http://aac.asm.org/content/52/12/4258).
- 111. Lambiase, A., A. Agangi, M. Del Pezzo, et al., "In Vitro Resistance to Macrolides and Clindamycin by Group B Streptococcus Isolated From Pregnant and Nonpregnant Women," Infectious Diseases in Obstetrics and Gynecology, 2012 Article ID 913603, doi:10.1155/2012/913603 (available at http://www.hindawi.com/journals/idog/2012/913603/).
- 112. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Infectious Diseases Related to Travel, Pneumococcal Disease (Streptococcus pneumoniae)," The

- Yellow Book, CDC Health Information for International Travel, 2012 (available at http://wwwnc.cdc.gov/travel/yellowbook/2012/chapter-3-infectious-diseases-related-to-travel/pneumococcal-disease-streptococcus-pneumoniae.htm).
- 113. Lynch, J. P. and G. G. Zhanel, "Streptococcus pneumoniae: Does Antimicrobial Resistance Matter?" Seminars in Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2009;30(2):210–238.
- 114. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Updated Recommendations for Prevention of Invasive Pneumococcal Disease Among Adults Using the 23-Valent Pneumococcal Polysaccharide Vaccine (PPSV23)," Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 2010: 59(34);1102–1106 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5934a3.htm).
- 115. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Disease Listing, Streptococcus pneumoniae Disease" (available at http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/dbmd/diseaseinfo/streppneum_t.htm).
- 116. Jacobs, M. R., "Drug-Resistant Streptococcus pneumoniae: Rational Antibiotic Choices," American Journal of Medicine, 1999;106(5A):19S–25S (available at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0002934398003519).
- 117. Kim, S. H., J. H. Song, D. R. Chung, et al., "Changing Trends in Antimicrobial Resistance and Serotypes of Streptococcus pneumoniae Isolates in Asian Countries: an Asian Network for Surveillance of Resistant Pathogens (ANSORP) Study," Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 2012;56(3):1418–1426 (available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3294909/).
- 118. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, "Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance in Europe 2009," Annual Report of the European Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance Network (EARS-Net), Stockholm: ECDC; 2010 (available at http://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/ publications/Publications/ 1011_SUR_annual_EARS_Net_2009.pdf).
- 119. Dmitriev, A. V. and M. S. Chaussee, "The Streptococcus pyogenes Proteome: Maps, Virulence Factors and Vaccine Candidates," Future Microbiology, 2010;5(10):1539–1551 (available at http://www.futuremedicine.com/doi/full/10.2217/fmb.10.116).
- 120. Neuner, J. M., M. B. Hamel, R. S. Phillips, et al., "Diagnosis and Management of Adults With Pharyngitis: A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis," *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 2003;139(2):113–122 (available at http://annals.org/article.aspx?articleid=716573).
- 121. Shulman, S. T. and R. R. Tanz, "Group A Streptococcal Pharyngitis and Immune-Mediated Complications: From Diagnosis to Management," Expert Review of Anti-Infective Therapy, 2010;8(2):137–150 (available at http://www.expert-reviews.com/doi/full/10.1586/eri.09.134).
- 122. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "ABCs Report: Group A

- Streptococcus, 2011," (available at http://www.cdc.gov/abcs/reports-findings/survreports/gas11.html).
- 123. Horn, D. L., J. B. Zabriksie, R. Austrian, et al., "Why Have Group A Streptococci Remained Susceptible to Penicillin? Report on a Symposium," *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 1998;26(6):1341–1345 (available at http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/26/6/1341.long).
- 124. Passali, D., M. Lauriello, G. C. Passali, et al., "Group A Streptococcus and its Antibiotic Resistance," Acta Otorhinolaryngologica Italica, 2007;27(1):27–32 (available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2640020/).
- 125. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Cholera: Epidemiology and Risk Factors," May 11, 2011 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/cholera/epi.html).
- 126. Steinberg, E. B., K. D. Greene, C. A. Bopp, et al., "Cholera in the United States, 1995–2000: Trends at the End of the Twentieth Century," *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 2001;184:799–802 (available at http://
- 127. Sjölund-Karlsson, M., A. Reimer, J. P. Folster, et al., "Drug-Resistance Mechanisms in Vibrio cholerae O1 Outbreak Strain, Haiti, 2010," Emerging Infectious Diseases, November 2011;17(11):2151–4 (available at http://wwwnc.cdc.gov/eid/article/17/11/11–0720 article.htm).
- 128. Mandal, J., V. Sangeetha, V. Ganesan, et al., "Third-Generation Cephalosporin—Resistant Vibrio cholerae, India," Emerging Infectious Diseases, August 2012;18(8):1326–1328 (available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3414027/).
- 129. Crump, J. A., C. A. Bopp, K. D. Greene, et al., "Toxigenic Vibrio cholerae Serogroup O141—Associated Cholera-Like Diarrhea and Bloodstream Infection in the United States," The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 2003;187:866–8 (available at http://jid.oxfordjournals.org/content/187/5/866.full.pdf+html).
- 130. Burrus, V., J. Marrero, and M. K. Waldor, "The Current ICE Age: Biology and Evolution of SXT-Related Integrating Conjugative Elements," *Plasmid*, 2006;55:173–83 (available at http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0147619X06000035).
- 131. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Cholera: Treatment," November 28, 2011 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/cholera/treatment/index.html).
- 132. Sievert, D., P. Ricks, J. R. Edwards, et al., "Antimicrobial-Resistant Pathogens Associated With Healthcare-Associated Infections: Summary of Data Reported to the National Healthcare Safety Network at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2009–2010," Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology, 2013;34(1):1–14 (available at http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1086/668770).

- 133. Saleem, A. F., I. Ahmed, F. Mir, et al., "Pan-Resistant *Acinetobacter* Infection in Neonates in Karachi, Pakistan," *Journal of Infection in Developing Countries*, 2010;4(1):030–037 (available at http://www.jidc.org/index.php/journal/article/view/20130376/336).
- 134. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "National Antimicrobial Resistance Monitoring System: Enteric Bacteria: 2010 Human Isolates Final Report," 2012 (available at http:// www.cdc.gov/narms/pdf/2010-annualreport-narms.pdf).
- 135. Hall, A. J., A. T. Curns, L. C. McDonald, et al., "The Roles of *Clostridium difficile* and Norovirus Among Gastroenteritis-Associated Deaths in the United States, 1999–2007," *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 2012;55(2):216–223 (available at http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/55/2/216).
- 136. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Making Health Care Safer: Stop Infections from Lethal CRE Germs Now," Vital Signs, March 5, 2013 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/ vitalsigns/HAI/CRE/index.html).
- 137. Pfyffer, G. E., "Mycobacterium: General Characteristics, Laboratory Detection, and Staining Procedures," Murray P. R., Baron E. J., and Jorgensen J. H., et al. editors, Manual of Clinical Microbiology, 9th ed., Washington DC: ASM Press; 2007:544–546.
- 138. Rainbow, J., E. Cebelinski, J. Bartkus, et al., "Rifampin-Resistant Meningococcal Disease," *Emerging Infectious Disease*, 2005;11(6):977–979 (available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3367591/pdf/05–0143.pdf).
- 139. Brown, E. M., D. N. Fisman, S. J. Drews, et al., "Epidemiology of Invasive Meningococcal Disease With Decreased Susceptibility to Penicillin in Ontario, Canada, 2000 to 2006," Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 2010;54(3):1016–1021 (available at http://aac.asm.org/content/54/3/1016.full).
- 140. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Antibiotic Treatment: Recommendations for the Use of Antibiotics for the Treatment of Cholera," December 7, 2011 (available at http://www.cdc.gov/cholera/treatment/antibiotic-treatment.html).
- 141. Ibarz-Pavón, A. B., A. P. Lemos, M. C. Gorla, et al., "Laboratory-Based Surveillance of Neisseria meningitides Isolates From Disease Cases in Latin America and Caribbean Countries, SIREVA II 2006–2010," PLOS ONE, 7(8):e44102. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0044102 (available at http://www.plosone.org/article/info%3 Adoi%2F10.1371%2Fjournal. pone.0044102).
- 142. Enríquez, R., R. Abad, C. Salcedo, et al., "Fluoroquinolone Resistance in Neisseria meningitidis in Spain," Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 2008;61(2):286–290 (available at http:// jac.oxfordjournals.org/content/61/2/ 286.long).
- 143. Corso, A., D. Faccone, M. Miranda, et al., "Emergence of *Neisseria meningitidis*

- With Decreased Susceptibility to Ciprofloxacin in Argentina," Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 2005;55(4):596–597 (available at http://jac.oxfordjournals.org/content/55/4/596.longlong).
- 144. Richardson, A. R., Z. Yu, T. Popovic, et al., "Mutator Clones of Neisseria meningitidis in Epidemic Serogroup A Disease," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2002;99(9):6103– 6107 (available at http://www.pnas.org/ content/99/9/6103.long).
- 145. Klein, E., D. L. Smith, and R. Laxminarayan, "Hospitalizations and Deaths Caused by Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus, United States, 1999–2005," Emerging Infectious Diseases, 2007;13(12):1840–46 (available at http://wwwnc.cdc.gov/eid/article/13/12/07-0629 article.htm).
- 146. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "ABCs Report: Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus, 2010," (available at http://www.cdc.gov/abcs/ reports-findings/survreports/ mrsa10.html).
- 147. Pichichero, M. E. and J. R. Casey, "Emergence of a Multiresistant Serotype 19A Pneumococcal Strain Not Included in the 7-Valent Conjugate Vaccine as an Otopathogen in Children," The Journal of the American Medical Association, 2007; 298(15):1772–1778 (available at http://jama.jamanetwork.com/ article.aspx?articleid=209195).
- 148. Jenkins, S. G. and D. J. Farrell, "Increase in Pneumococcus Macrolide Resistance, United States," *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 2009;15(8):1260–4 (available at http://wwwnc.cdc.gov/eid/article/15/8/08–1187_article.htm).
- 149. Luaces Cubells, C., J. J. García García, J. Roca Martínez, et al. "Clinical Data in Children With Meningococcal Meningitis in a Spanish Hospital," Acta Paediatrica, 1997;86(1):26–9.
- 150. Jones, A. M., M. E. Dodd, J. R. Govan, et al., "Burkholderia cenocepacia and Burkholderia multivorans: Influence on Survival in Cystic Fibrosis," Thorax, 2004;59:948–951 (available at http://thorax.bmj.com/content/59/11/948.full.pdf+html).
- 151. Gaynes, R., J. R. Edwards, and the National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance System, "Overview of Nosocomial Infections Caused by Gram-Negative Bacilli," *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 2005;41:848–854 (available at http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/41/ 6/848.full.pdf+html).
- 152. Livermore, D. M., "Multiple Mechanisms of Antimicrobial Resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa:* Our Worst Nightmare?" *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 2002;34:634–640 (available at http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/34/5/634.full.pdf).
- 153. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "CDC Grand Rounds: The Growing Threat of Multidrug-Resistant Gonorrhea," Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, February 15, 2013;62(06):103–106 (available at http:// www.cdc.gov/MMWR/preview/mmwr

- html/mm6206a3.htm?s_cid=mm6206a3 w).
- 154. Wong, M. R., V. Reddy, H. Hanson, et al., "Antimicrobial Resistance Trends of Shigella Serotypes in New York City, 2006–2009," Microbial Drug Resistance, 2010;16(2):155–161 (available at http://online.liebertpub.com/doi/abs/10.1089/mdr.2009.0130).
- 155. Alcaine, S. D., L. D. Warnick, and M. Weidmann, "Antimicrobial Resistance in Nontyphoidal Salmonella," Journal of Food Protection, 2007;70(3):780–790 (available at http://fdamedlibmd.library.ingent aconnect.com/content/iafp/jfp/2007/000 00070/00000003/art00039?token=004f1d 70bd125ed42bda039412f415d 763f252445744a6c246c514d2530482 9552c4b49266d656c).
- 156. Keessen, E. C., A. J. van den Berkt, N. H. Haasjes, et al., "The Relation Between Farm Specific Factors and Prevalence of Clostridium difficile in Slaughter Pigs," Veterinary Microbiology, 2011;154:130–134 (available at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science?_ob=MiamiImageURL&_cid=271229&_user=861681&_pi=S0378113511003609&_check=y&_coverDate=2011-12-29&view=c&wchp=dGLbVlk-zSkWz&md5=64cf941f6a32b5b6b3b606f74984d7be&pid=1-s2.0-S0378113511003609-main.pdf).
- 157. Shulman, S. T., A. L. Bisno, H. W. Clegg, et al., "Clinical Practice Guideline for the Diagnosis and Management of Group A Streptococcal Pharyngitis: 2012 Update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America," Clinical Infectious Disease, 2012;55(10):e86-e102 (available at http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/55/10/e86.long).

List of Subjects in 21 CFR Part 317

Antibiotics, Communicable diseases, Drugs, Health, Health care, Immunization, Prescription drugs, Public health.

Therefore, under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, and under authority delegated to the Commissioner of Food and Drugs, 21 CFR part 317 is proposed to be added to read as follows:

PART 317—QUALIFYING PATHOGENS

Sec.

317.1 [Reserved]

317.2 List of qualifying pathogens that have the potential to pose a serious threat to public health.

Authority: 21 U.S.C. 355E, 371.

§ 317.2 List of qualifying pathogens that have the potential to pose a serious threat to public health.

The term "qualifying pathogen" in section 505E(f) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act is defined to mean any of the following:

- (a) Acinetobacter species.
- (b) Aspergillus species.

- (c) Burkholderia cepacia complex.
- (d) Campylobacter species.
- (e) Candida species.
- (f) Clostridium difficile.
- (g) Enterobacteriaceae.
- (h) Enterococcus species.
- (i) Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex.
 - (j) Neisseria gonorrhoeae.
 - (k) Neisseria meningitidis.
- (l) Non-tuberculous mycobacteria species.
 - (m) Pseudomonas species.
 - (n) Staphylococcus aureus.
 - (o) Streptococcus agalactiae.
 - (p) Streptococcus pneumoniae.
 - (q) Streptococcus pyogenes.
 - (r) Vibrio cholerae.

Dated: June 5, 2013.

Leslie Kux,

Assistant Commissioner for Policy.

[FR Doc. 2013-13865 Filed 6-11-13; 8:45 am]

BILLING CODE 4160-01-P

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Food and Drug Administration

21 CFR Part 890

[Docket No. FDA-2013-N-0568]

Physical Medicine Devices; Reclassification of Stair-Climbing Wheelchairs

AGENCY: Food and Drug Administration, HHS.

ACTION: Proposed order.

SUMMARY: The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) is issuing a proposed administrative order to reclassify stair-climbing wheelchairs, a class III device, into class II (special controls) based on new information and subject to premarket notification, and to further clarify the identification.

DATES: Submit either electronic or written comments on this proposed order or on the draft guideline by September 10, 2013. See section XII for the proposed effective date of any final order that may publish based on this proposed order.

ADDRESSES: You may submit comments, identified by Docket No. FDA-2013-N-0568 by any of the following methods:

Electronic Submissions

Submit electronic comments in the following way:

• Federal eRulemaking Portal: http://www.regulations.gov. Follow the instructions for submitting comments.

Written Submissions

Submit written submissions in the following ways: